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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”)
of China New Economy Fund Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Year").

The Company is a closed-ended investment company established on
1 February 2010. By investing substantially in both private and public
enterprises within a diversified portfolio supported by the new economies
of Greater China, the Company is devoted to achieving long-term capital
appreciation for professional investors.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

During the Year, the Company maintained a medium to long-term
investment strategy in both public and private equities. The Company
held four investments in Hong Kong-listed companies, three private
equity securities investments, one limited partnership fund and one open-
ended fund as of 31 December 2023. One of our major investments is in
the financial printing sector focusing on the Hong Kong IPO market. The
Company reported net loss attributable to shareholders of HK$52,436,843
during the Year, which consisted of the net change in fair value loss of
HK$35,365,185 taken on the investment positions in the portfolio.

The investment performance of the Company during the Year is affected
by the slow recovery of the Chinese economy after the global pandemic
and the rising volatility of the Greater China stock market. As at 31
December 2023, the Company reported an audited net asset value of
approximately HK$0.07 per share. The net loss is mainly attributable
to net realised loss of HK$59,123,751 offset by net unrealised gain of
HK$23,758,566 on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
mainly as a result of recent Hong Kong stock market volatility. The
Company will continue to monitor its investments cautiously in view of the
recent uncertain market conditions.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

For the entire Year, the prevailing theme in the investment market is
“Hong Kong’s return to normalcy after the epidemic and economic
recovery.” However, persistent challenges continue to plague the
investment market, including the United States (the “U.S.”) interest rate
hike and potential geopolitical escalations. These issues have led to a
disappointing projection of economic rebound for most investors.

China faced numerous economic challenges in 2023, even after
abandoning key parts of its zero-Covid strategy in January 2023, which
had been in place since 2020. However, the journey toward economic
recovery is expected to be lengthy. According to data from the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, China’s gross domestic product (GDP) in
2023 increased to RMB126,058 billion compared to the corresponding
period last year, representing a 5.2% growth compared to 2022. The GDP
for the first quarter of 2023 increased by 4.5%, accelerating to 6.3%,
4.9%, and 5.2% in the remaining quarters of 2023, respectively, on a
year-to-year basis.

In 2023, the Hang Seng Index decreased by 13.8%. Concurrently, the
Hang Seng Chinese Enterprises Index, which experienced a 14.0% drop,
performed worse than the Hang Seng Index. In July 2022, the U.S. inflation
reached a level not seen in over 40 years, prompting the United States
Federal Reserve Board (the “U.S. Federal Reserve”) to restart the interest
rate hike cycle in May 2022. They raised interest rates by 25 basis points
in February, March, May, and July of 2023, respectively. Although the
inflation growth rate slowed down throughout 2023, with interest rates
now being in the range of at 5.25% to 5.5%, it is anticipated that the U.S.
Federal Reserve may have limited room for significant rate hikes in the near
term. Given the slowdown in inflation, there is a possibility of a 1 to 2-time
interest rate cut by the end of 2024.

The Company’s focus is to invest in listed securities in short to medium-
terms, actively seek investment opportunities in high-potential listed
companies. During the Year, the Company initiated a new investment in
Tasty Concepts Holding Limited, which is primarily involved in operating
Japanese ramen restaurants. The Company remains committed to
identifying additional investment opportunities, including potential
unlisted investments, to benefit our investors and shareholders.
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Another focal point for the Company is long-term investments in private
equity securities and other unlisted assets. As at 31 December 2023, the
Company invested in two funds and three private equities. The Company
firmly believes that incorporating funds and private equity into its portfolio
will diversify investment risks and potentially yield greater returns in the
long term, complementing the listed investments.

The Company will persist in implementing an investment strategy that
strongly emphasizes Greater China and other major global markets.
Leveraging the expertise of our professional investment and risk
management team, we maintain a high level of confidence in our ability
to identify and capitalize on valuable investment opportunities, ultimately
maximizing profits for our esteemed shareholders.

Huang Bin
=i
Co-Chairman
WS FE

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T AT

INVESTMENT REVIEW

The Company held nine investments as of 31 December 2023, comprising
four investments in Hong Kong-listed companies, three private equity
securities investments, one limited partnership fund and one open-ended
fund.

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Rule 21.12 of the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company discloses its
ten largest investments and all individual investments with value exceeding
5% of the Company’s gross assets with brief description of the investee
companies as follows:

At 31 December 2023

Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong

RELE

AATNR2023F 12 A3 BEAENERE 8
FEENEES FHARKRE  ZELBERE
BERE  —EERAEES R —EMRMAAE

PN
e

RIBEEBBAZSMERRAR (8 2A)) &
% LR8I (LRI 52112 (AT B 07
- ARABEELTEEARE RAA BB
EBRARARAES% WEE  BRFE
AR ER AT -

72023128 31H
L EREE -

Netasset/  Dividend % of
Proportion (liability) ~ received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of issued capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
B 351 KRR RREE AL
ift fHERT  REDNE FERNE/ EitE/ Bh/EY BEE
FRELAER RuY RftEE  EkiH A [l (E8) (BE)5E RE BAl
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(1) (Rt2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEr TEn
(a)  Tasty Concepts Holding Limited The Cayman lslands 6,600,000 343% 1320 1848 528 HK$(0.66) - 194
ordinary shares of millon
HK$0.1 each
ERERBRAT ERE 6,600,000% (660,000)
BRAEATL A
Lk
(b)  Hanvey Group Holdings Limited The Cayman lslands 2,310,000 140% 627 739 1 HK$0.52 - 078
ordinary shares of milion
HK$0.1 each
EEERERERAT FEiE 2,310,000 520,000
BREEIATL o
() Lerado Financial Group Company Limited ~ Bermuda 3,100,000 1.35% 779 657 (122) HK$8.98 - 069
ordinary shares of milion
HK$0.01 each
ERSBEEERAT [ 3,100,000 8,980,000
ERARIIATL o
el
(d)  China New Consumption Group Limited ~ The Cayman lslands 2,700,000 0.67% 505 524 19 HKS$0.70 - 0.55
ordinary shares of million
HKS$0.01 each
hEEEERARAA FEHE 2,700,000 700,000
SREEETL A
gk
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Private Equity Security — British Virgin Islands

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S B AT

REREES -RBELHE

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset ~ received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of issued capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
Bek 283 MEEE 30T
it FRCEGT  REMT #RkE/  AOEEE  Bh/ER BEE
FREATER RIbH R EAlh 2 (3! (B8 BERE RE k1
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(K1) (Wit2)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TAL T TATL TEL
(e)  Gransing Financial Group Limited British Virgin Islands 64 shares of 18.08% 4377 9,724 (36,653) HK$20.90 - 1021
USDT each millon
AREHEERRAT ABRAER 64k 20,900,000
SRAEIET BT
LA
Private Equity Securities — Hong Kong HEREEZEF-FE
Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of issued capital Market gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
BEf BE3 MEEE  HERR
i FRERT  REDE FBRE/  ADARE  BU/RM BeE
FREnz4R Rb% Rt EARA e (3! (B8 EEFE ) Aflt
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Fz1) (F£2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TERL TR TERL TEn
(f) iPro Financial Press Limited Hong Kong 17,493 shares 19.97% 34,999 17,602 (17,397) HK$25.60 - 18.48
million
B ALRERAA Bt 17493k 25,600,000
BT
(o) Gransing Finance Limited Hong Kong 2,779,570 shares 19.90% 16,876 8,103 8773) HK$12.90 - 8.51
millon
AREERRLT Bt 2118570% 12,900,000
o
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T AT

10

Funds - Hong Kong B -F&
Dividend % of
received/ gross
Proportion Unrealised Netasset  receivable assets
of investee's gain/(loss)  attributable to the during of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation  capital owned Cost Marketvalue  recognised Company the Year Company
EAF BER REEE AR
RERNE R*ERNE/ ARAEE  BR/EK heE
FRERRER A A ERLLA B e (B#) BERE k& BAl
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(BE1) (K2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
Tk T T T
(h)  Goldstone 1 LPF Hong Kong 59.32% 23,748 16,858 (6,890) HK$16.86 - 17.70
million
Sh-HERABES B 16,860,000
BT
() SWK Dynamic OFC Hong Kong 12.21% 12,163 10,285 (1878) HK$10.28 - 10.80
million
Bk 10,280,000
BT
At 31 December 2022 720224 12H31H
Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong LthRmEE-EE
Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset received/ gross
of investees Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company theyear  Company
gk BE3 MEEE  HARR
iff RELT #4RhE/  AOEEE  Bh/ER feg
FRELDER RIbH iEESIE L -t ] 2 (32! i) EERE RE BAlt
(Note 4) (Note 3)
(Fta) (W3
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TAT TAT TAT T
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 32,100,000 19.45% 19.113 10272 (8841) HK$7.66 - 6.83
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 millon
each
EREEARERAA RERE 32,100,000% 7,660,000
BRAEELIAT o
LERR
Orient Securities Interational Holdings The Cayman lslands 6,210,000 4.99% 1456 1,646 190 HK$18.98 - 1.10
Limited ordinary shares of millon
HK$0.05 each
B EFARARARAT FEES 6,210,000 18,980,000
SREE0SETY AL
LRk
Jiading International Group Holding Bermuda 1,780,000 0.17% 381 34 37 HK$0.10 - 0.3
Limited (Formerly known as Fornova ordinary shares of milion
Group Holdings Limited) HK$0.004 each
EREREELRARLA ARE 1,780,000% 100,000
(AR EEERERAR) Hﬁ@ﬁoomﬁ%ﬁ‘z& BT
B
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Private Equity Security — British Virgin Islands

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S B AT

REREES -RBEXHE

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised ~ attributable  receivable assets
Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised  Company year  Company
b &3 REEE  fALT
fEERT  FREAR ¥R ROAEE  BR/EY BEE
frRENTZR HRALE Ritsle  EAHA o mE hE/(FE)  EETA RE BAl
(Note ) (Note 3)
(M) (R&3)
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fitn T Tin Titn
Gransing Financial Group Limited British Virgin Islands 64 shares 18.08% 46,377 15,968 (30409 HK$26.09 - 10.69
of USD1 each million
AR BEEERAT ABRUES B4R 26,090,000
BREE1ET AT
IRt
Private Equity Securities — Hong Kong HEREES—FE
Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised ~ attributable  receivable assets
Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised  Company year  Company
] BB REEE 40T
fiE%G  FRENA #2B0E/  K0EEE  Bh/ER HEE
FREADER HMALE Rit#e  EARH s [l (§8) EERE e BAlt
(Note 4) (Note 3)
GRT) (&3)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Thn Tén
IPro Financial Press Limited Hong Kong 17,493 shares 19.97% 34,999 26,793 (820)  HK$24.12 - 17.93
million
ESHEIRERAT 35 17493 24,120,000
A
Gransing Finance Limited Hong Kong 2,779,570 shares 19.90% 16,876 14,655 2221 HK$18.58 - 981
million
AREERRAT 305 2719570 18,580,000
A
Help U Credit finance Limited Hong Kong 37,000 shares 19.95% 19,000 0 (19.0000  HK$12.64 - 0
million
EABBERLA B 37,000 12,640,000
A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R wmET

Unlisted Bond — The Cayman Islands

FETEF-HEHSE

Interest % of
received/ gross
Unrealised accrued assets
Market gain/(loss) Yield per Maturity during of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation Cost value recognised annum date the year Company
2R3 REER AR
AR5 B/ Bt BeE
FRENDER AT S e WE/(ER Eyaz 388 RIS Al
(Note 4)
(Wit4)
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000
ThL ThL ThRL ThL
Orient Payment Group Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 10,500 11,000 500 10 31 July 2022 1658 736
RN EEARERAT mElE W0FTANE
Funds — Hong Kong He-F#
Dividend % of
received/ gross
Proportion Unrealised Net asset receivable assets
of investee's gain/(loss) attributable to during of the
Narme of investee Place of incorporation capital owned Cost  Market value recognised  the Company the Year Company
10 BER REER AR
REAT FRNE/  AOEER B/ Y A
FREMAER I EALA 2 [ (B8 BERE RE Al
(Note 4) (Note 3)
(Hit4) (Ri33)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T ThL ThL ThRL
Goldstone 1 LPF Hong Kong 81.28% 23,748 2151 (1,597) HK$22.15 - 14.83
(Formerly known as Gransing 1 LPF) million
Sh-%RRABAS i 22,150,000
(HRER-HARABAS) AL
SWK Dynamic OFC Hong Kong 758% 13,300 13,610 310 HK$13.61 - 9.11
millon
B 13,610,000
AT
Notes: Bt

(1) The unrealised gain/(loss) recognised represented the changes in fair value of the (1)

respective investments during the Year.

2) The calculation of net assets/(liability) attributable to the Company is based on the (2)
latest published interim/annual reports of the respective investments at the end of each

reporting period.

(3) The calculation of net assets attributable to the Company is based on the latest financial (3)
information/statements of the respective investments at the end of each reporting

period.

(4) The unrealised gain/(loss) recognised represented the changes in fair value of the (4)

respective investments during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

A brief description of the business and financial information of the

investments is as follows:

(a

Tasty Concepts Holding Limited (“Tasty Concepts”) is an
investment holding company mainly engaged in the operation
of Japanese ramen restaurants. The unaudited loss attributable
to shareholders of Tasty Concepts for the six months ended
30 September 2023 was approximately HK$3,754,000 and
the unaudited net liabilities attributable to shareholders of
Tasty Concepts as at 30 September 2023 was approximately
HK$1,916,000. Tasty Concepts will keep on monitoring the market
development and endeavoring to enhance the quality of the food
and providing excellent services to their customers. The fair value
of the investment in Tasty Concepts is based on quoted market bid
prices.

Hanvey Group Holdings Limited (“Hanvey”) is an investment
holding company principally engaged in the design and
development, manufacturing and distribution of watch products.
The unaudited profit attributable to shareholders of Hanvey for the
six months ended 30 June 2023 was approximately HK$1,318,000
and the unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of
Hanvey as at 30 June 2023 was approximately HK$37,108,000.
Hanvey will continue to focus on the core business and to in
strengthen their product design and development capability in
order to maximise the long term returns of the shareholders of
Hanvey. The fair value of the investment in Hanvey is based on
quoted market bid prices.

Lerado Financial Group Company Limited (“Lerado”) is an
investment holding company principally engaged in the
manufacture and sales of medical products and plastic toys
business. The unaudited loss attributable to shareholders of
Lerado for the six months ended 30 June 2023 was approximately
HK$20,338,000 and the unaudited net assets attributable to
shareholders of Lerado as at 30 June 2023 was approximately
HK$665,152,000. Lerado will keep focusing on the existing
business and look for potential investment opportunities to
diversify its business scope and leverage Lerado’s business. The fair
value of the investment in Lerado is based on quoted market bid
prices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T AT

China New Consumption Group Limited (“China New
Consumption”) is a foundation contractor primarily engaged in
subcontracted bored piling works as well as other foundation
works. The unaudited loss attributable to shareholders of China
New Consumption for the six months ended 30 September 2023
was approximately HK$1,312,000 and the unaudited net assets
attributable to shareholders of China New Consumption as at 30
September 2023 was approximately HK$104,835,000. China New
Consumption will adhere to prudent financial management in
project selection, cost control and will continue to strive to improve
its operational efficiency and profitability of its business. The fair
value of the investment in China New Consumption is based on
quoted market bid prices.

Gransing Financial Group Limited (”“Gransing Financial”) is
principally engaged in provision of quality brokerage, corporate
finance, asset management, money lending and financial adviser
services to institutional and individual investors in Hong Kong and
Mainland China through its subsidiaries. With the enhancement
of artificial intelligence (“A.l.") technology, Gransing Financial
launched several new services included the online account opening
services for new customers in Hong Kong and China. Moreover, by
the help of advanced intelligent technology, Gransing Financial’s
A.l. analyst would serve their clients with stock monitoring,
investment strategies and stock scoring services. All the above
would improve Gransing Financial’s operational efficiency and earn
more new potential clients. The fair value of the investment in
Gransing Financial is based on valuation by independent valuer.

iPro Financial Press Limited (“iPro”) is principally engaged in
financial printing services, production of announcements such as
IPO prospectus and financial reports, and provision of venues for
financial related forums. The fair value of the investment in iPro is
based on valuation by independent valuer.

Gransing Finance Limited (“Gransing Finance”) is engaged in the
provision of money lending. Gransing Finance is held by Gransing
Financial which is the largest shareholder of Gransing Finance.
The fair value of the investment in Gransing Finance is based on
valuation by independent valuer.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S B AT

(h)  Goldstone 1 LPF (“Goldstone 1”), is a limited partnership fund. (h) &©A—SFERAEES([£H5—%]) A

Goldstone 1 seeks to achieve maximum capital appreciation over —SEREHES A RELERA
the life of the limited partnership fund through equity investments, IRIERE BRI E NSRBI R L
specifically, investments in IPOs on securities to be listed on the MHESME R QRS RBRAT LT
Stock Exchange and in private placements by companies listed on REIMAERE RERABRESHE
the Stock Exchange. The fair value of the investment in Goldstone EFERANERZANERILE -Re

1 is based on net asset value.

A—RIREN R FESENEEFER

st
= o
>t

(i) SWK Dynamic OFC (“SWK") is private open-ended fund company (i) SWK Dynamic OFC ([ SWK]) Ty —=x#H

with variable capital. The strategy of SWK is long-biased focusing ABERHFLARBAES AT o SWK
on Hong Kong and China equity market. The fair value of the WEBASRHARAESRFBEAKET

investment in SWK is based on net asset value.

5 M SWK IR E ATED RN EEF
e

The top investments with realised gain and loss for the Year are RAFEHESCEBUENBEZ ZAKREH

summarised as below: N
Top two realised gain for the Year TEEMAEZR K&
Name of investment Realised gain
REEMR =% - 300§
HK$’'000
FET
CBK Holdings Limited B SRR B IR A A 807
Jiading International Group Holdings Limited — Rights EREBREETERERAR —Ex 27

Top three realised loss for the Year

Name of investment

FEE=ZACERER

Realised loss

REER EEBEE
HK$'000

FAT

Sense Key Design Holdings Limited RERFIRERAF 25,000
Help U Credit Finance Limited HEARBERRAF 19,000
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited EESEZEREBRAR 11,890
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Management Discussion and Analysis
IR DA

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING

The Company has maintained a sufficient cash position which will allow it
to capture opportunities with promising returns in both listed and private
equities.

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio, defined as total borrowings
divided by shareholders’ equities, was nil (31 December 2022: Nil). As at
31 December 2023, the Company has no margin payables to brokers (31
December 2022: Nil).

CHARGES ON COMPANY’S ASSET AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no pledged Hong Kong listed
securities to secure the margin payables to the brokers (31 December
2022: Nil).

There were no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On the listing date on 6 January 2011, the Company completed a share
placement and a total of 303,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
were placed at a price of HK$1.03 per share for a total cash consideration,
excluding the related issue expenses, for approximately HK$312.1 million.
Subsequent to the listing, the Company had acquired additional capital
by completion of rights issue and placing of new shares under general
mandate. As at 31 December 2023, the capital of the Company comprises
of 1,319,700,274 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EQUITY FUND RAISING

There was no equity fund raising activity by the Company for the Year,
nor was there any unutilized proceeds brought forward from any issue of
equity securities made in previous financial years.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2023, the Company made no capital expenditure or
any other commitments (31 December 2022: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the Year, the Company did not acquire or dispose of any
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (2022: Nil).

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company has nine investments as of 31 December 2023, comprising
of equity securities listed in Hong Kong, private equities, limited
partnership fund and open-ended fund. The largest investment held by the
Company is in the financial printing sector focusing on the Hong Kong IPO
market.

The rest of the net proceeds gained will be applied by the Board and the
Investment Manager in making investments according to the investment
objective, policies and restrictions of the Company and the requirements
of the articles of association of the Company, the Listing Rules and the
investment management agreement. Any proceeds not deployed are
placed in bank deposits or invested in money market instruments or money
market funds.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T AT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had eight full-time employees (31
December 2022: six full-time employees). All of the Company’s employees
were based in Hong Kong.

The Company establishes its remuneration policy by making reference to
the prevailing market conditions and a performance-based reward system.
The policy is periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory provident
fund, salaries increment, discretionary bonuses and share options may
be awarded to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$4,132,184 (31 December 2022: HK$3,885,403).

FOREIGN CURRENCY FLUCTUATION

The Board believes that foreign exchange risks are minimal as the
Company mainly uses the Hong Kong dollar to carry out its business
transactions.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There has been no material event affecting the Company since the end
of reporting year. Details of significant events (if any) occurring after
31 December 2023 are set out in Note 29 to the financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the "Audit Committee”)
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Sze Tak Chi (being the chairman with professional
qualifications in accountancy), Mr. Sui Fuxiang and Mr. Tong Yun Lung.

The summary of duties and works of the Audit Committee is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board hereby announces that the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 28 May 2024 to Friday 31 May 2024,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM"), all transfers of shares, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04,
33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point,
Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:00 p.m. on Monday, 27 May
2024.
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Profiles of Directors

E=ERF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan"), aged 60, has been appointed as an
executive Director since 1 June 2013. Mr. Chan is the managing director
of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Chan is currently a
licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Chan obtained a
Bachelor of Science degree from the College of Business Administration
of The University of South Florida in the United States of America. Mr.
Chan is experienced in dealing in securities, fund management, corporate
management, corporate finance and managing listed investment
companies under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Chan is currently
an executive director of China Innovation Investment Limited (1217.HK),
China Investment and Finance Group Limited (1226. HK), Capital Realm
Financial Holdings Group Limited (204.HK), Capital VC Limited (2324.
HK) and Goldstone Investment Group Limited (901.HK), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an
executive director of National Investments Fund Limited (in liquidation)
(1227.HK) before the winding up order was granted against the company
on 8 February 2021. He was also an executive director of Core Economy
Investment Group Limited (339.HK) from January 2021 to June 2021.

Goldstone Investment Group Limited was ordered to be wound up by the
Hong Kong court and provisional liquidator has been appointed. Mr. Chan
confirmed that he is not one of the respondents of the winding-up order
nor a party to such winding-up proceedings and is not aware of any actual
or potential claim that has been or will be made against him because of the
above. He also confirmed that he has no knowledge at the present time of
the possible outcome of the winding-up order. Further details are set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 30 May 2023.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Bin (“Mr. Huang"”), aged 58, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Company since 10
January 2022, and became the Co-Chairman of the Board alongside Mr.
Choi Chit Sze Jackson with effect from 8 February 2022. He is currently
a director of CITIC International Assets Management Limited and has
extensive professional experience in fund and asset management as well
as investment banking and direct investments. After years of experience
in working abroad and as a visiting scholar, such as Crédit Agricole
Corporate and Investment Bank in France, Yaxin Finance in Hong Kong
and subsidiaries of Scotia Capital in Canada, Mr. Huang joined the
Chinese General Chamber of Commerce and the Guangdong-Hongkong-
Macao Bay Area Entrepreneurs Union. He is the executive vice chairman
of the Union and in charge of technology and financial sector as well.
In order to give further play to the regional advantage of “Leveraging
Hong Kong's Advantages, Meeting the Country’s Needs”, Mr. Huang
organized Mainland government-owned enterprises and local state-owned
enterprises in Hong Kong to set up special funds. These funds jointly carry
out coordination work in compliance with the “belt and road” initiative,
while promoting the development of “Guangdong-Hongkong-Macao Bay
Area” based on Hong Kong. Besides implementing the transformation
of technological innovation and achievement, these funds focus on
introducing advanced technologies, and incubating industries. Mr.
Huang graduated from the Department of Naval Architecture and Marine
Engineering of Harbin Engineering University, and subsequently received
the training from the European Economic Community Visiting Scholars
Program and the business management training from Northwestern
University in the United States of America. Mr. Huang is currently a
non-executive director of YNBY International Limited (30.HK), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Huang is a non-
executive director and chairman of Goldstone Capital Group Limited
(1160.HK), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
From 20 February 2022 to 13 March 2024, Mr. Huang was a non-
executive director of China United Venture Investment Limited (8159.
HK), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. From 19 March
2020 to 2 December 2021, Mr. Huang was the chairman and a non-
executive director of Lamtex Holdings Limited (in liquidation) (1041.HK),
a company previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
From 3 September 2019 to 16 October 2020, Mr. Huang was an executive
director of GTI Holdings Limited (in liquidation) (3344.HK), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Profiles of Directors
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Profiles of Directors

E=ERF

Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson, aged 26, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director and the Co-Chairman of the Company alongside
Mr. Huang Bin since 8 February 2022. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree from University College London. He is the director of # {5 B8
P EEE G R A A (CITIC Merchant Enterprise Management Company
Limited) and he is also a director of Sunwah Group. He has been elected
as a Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Outstanding Young
Entrepreneur in 2020 by the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area Entrepreneurs Union. Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson is the son of Mr.
Choi Koon Shum, one of the substantial shareholders of Sunwah Kingsway
Capital Holdings Limited (“Sunwah Kingsway") (188.HK), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, and nephew of Mr. Choi Koon Ming, a
non-executive Director.

Mr. Choi Koon Ming, aged 55, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 8 February 2022. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from
the University of British Columbia. He has over 26 years of experience
in the financing activities of corporate and property mortgage, real
estate development and property investment, as well as over 21 years of
experience in financial services. Mr. Choi Koon Ming has been an executive
director of Sunwah Kingsway since 2000 and the chief executive officer of
Sunwah Kingsway since 2010. Mr. Choi Koon Ming is also an independent
non-executive director of EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
(3860.HK), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
since 2021. He was also a director and chief executive officer of Sunwah
International Limited (“SIL"), which was listed on the Toronto Stock
Exchange (“TSX"). SIL was privatized and delisted from the TSX on 14
June 2021. Currently Mr. Choi Koon Ming was a member of the People’s
Consultative Committee of Jiangsu Province, the People’s Republic of
China. Mr. Choi Koon Ming is the uncle of Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson, a
non-executive Director and a brother of Mr. Choi Koon Shum, one of the
substantial shareholders of Sunwah Kingsway and the Company with the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Ms. Xiao Ruimei (“Ms. Xiao"), aged age 59, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director since 8 July 2022. Ms. Xiao graduated from Renmin
University of China with a Bachelor of Laws in 1985. Ms. Xiao received a
Master of Business Administration from Guanghua School of Management
in Peking University in 2003. From 1999 to 2000, Ms. Xiao was a Senior
Media Visiting Scholar at Guanghua School of Management, Peking
University. Ms. Xiao was a visiting scholar at the School of International and
Public Affairs, Columbia University, United States of America from 2017 to
2018. From 1985 to 2001, Ms. Xiao served as director and editorial board
member of the Economic Department of China News Service. From 2001
to 2011, Ms. Xiao was the founder, deputy editor, and vice president of 4%
EERZR 3R (Economic Observers), and vice chairman of & EEI R R AR
22 A] (Economic Observers Newspaper Company Limited). Since 2011, Ms.
Xiao is the vice president of 1 EIF &R 54t (China Review News Agency).
Ms. Xiao received the [ 5 B ¥ & 22 | 5F 7% 22 (“ China News Award” Critic
Award) in 1997.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Yun Lung (“Mr. Tong”) aged 61, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since 18 July 2022. He is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Tong
obtained a bachelor’s degree from the Department of Chinese Language
in Nanjing University in the PRC in 1983. Mr. Tong has over 10 years of
administrative experience in Government of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"). From 1983 to 1990, he was engaged in an administrative
role in the General Office of the Yunnan Provincial Government of the
PRC. From 1990 to 1997, he was transferred to the General Office of the
Guangdong Provincial Government of the PRC. In 1997, he founded /& &
LB E T4 E ¥ B A B (Guangdong Dongfanghong Industrial Co., Ltd.).
In 2020, he joined China Far Vision (HK) Think Tank Limited and is currently
serving as its chairman.
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Mr. Sze Tak Chi (“Mr. Sze"”) aged 56, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 15 June 2023. He is the
chairman of Audit Committee as well as a member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Sze
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s
degree in Engineering in 1996 and from the Baruch College, City
University of New York with a master’s degree in business administration
(accountancy) in 2004. Mr. Sze is a holder of Chartered Financial Analyst
(CFA), a Certified Public Accountant of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (AICPA) in the United States and is Accredited in
Business Valuation (ABV) by the AICPA. Besides, he is a Registered
Business Valuer registered with the Hong Kong Business Valuation Forum.
He has also passed papers 1, 7, and 11 of the licensing examination of
securities and futures intermediaries of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute in December 2006. Mr. Sze has extensive experience
in conducting in-depth company and industry research, and financial
analyses for valuation purposes. Mr. Sze worked for investment banks,
a hedge fund company and a tax consulting firm in the United States,
primarily engaged in performing financial analyses and assessing taxation
impacts on entities such as financial institutions, utility companies and
power plants. Previously, he worked in the field of Civil Engineering and
Environmental Engineering in Hong Kong for 5 years. Mr. Sze is also
experienced in compliance of listed companies and have participated in a
number of listings in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Sui Fuxiang, aged 50, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 15 June 2023. He is the chairman of
Remuneration Committee as well as a member of Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Sui has long been engaged
in strategic research, financial investment and business collaboration.
He has studied in a number of universities and has studied in the
international economic and trade environment, especially in the field of
equity investment. He is familiar with the economic and social conditions
of Hong Kong and Macau, and is good at analysis for macro economy, as
well as business models and cutting-edge technology research. Focusing
on new energy, new infrastructure and specialized and new fields, Mr. Sui
has organized and planned a number of developments and transactions
regarding highend equipment production, asset management, supply
chain finance and comprehensive healthcare projects, underpinned by his
rich relevant resources and experience. Since joining CITIC Merchant Co.,
Ltd. in 2019, he has been mainly responsible for internal coordination
within the group, project development and client liaison. Mr. Sui was
a non-executive director of GTI Holdings Limited (334.HK), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from November 2019 to
October 2020, and has been an independent non-executive director of
China United Venture Investment Limited (8159.HK), a company listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange, from 17 August 2022 to 15 April 2024.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and audited financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The Company is an exempted limited liability company, incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 1 February 2010 for the purpose of acting as a closed-
ended investment company.

The Company is principally engaged in investing globally in both private
and publicly listed enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of the mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 6 January 2011 (the “Listing Date”). The
Company had not commenced any operation or business before the
Listing Date.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business review as required by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, including risks facing by the Company,
important events affecting the Company, that have occurred since the
end of the Year, likely future development in the Company’s business
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report. These discussions form
part of this “Report of the Directors”.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Company for the Year are set out in the financial
statements on pages 73 to 159.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
Year (31 December 2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Company for the
Year is set out on page 160.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves during the Year are set out in the
statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act, Cap. 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately HK$15.4 million.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital during the Year are set out in
Note 22 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s
listed shares during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Gu Xu (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 15 June 2023)
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Bin (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Choi Koon Ming
Ms. Xiao Ruimei
Mr. Wang Dingben
(Resigned on 8 December 2023)
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard
(Resigned on 3 January 2023)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yun Lung
Mr. Sze Tak Chi

(Appointed on 15 June 2023)
Mr. Sui Fuxiang

(Appointed on 15 June 2023)
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi

(Resigned on 15 June 2023)
Mr. Leung Wai Lim

(Resigned on 15 June 2023)
Mr. Sun Boquan

(Resigned on 15 June 2023)

In order to comply with the requirements of the code provision B.2.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules and according to Article 34.2 of the Articles, Mr. Sze
Tak Chi and Mr. Sui Fuxiang who were appointed by the Board on 15 June
2023 respectively shall hold office until the AGM and then shall be subject
to re-election at the AGM. Mr. Sze Tak Chi and Mr. Sui Fuxiang, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set
out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” on pages 20 to 25 of this
annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Details of the fee or emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Company’s operations. The Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreement during the Year or there was not any
subsisting equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company at the
end of the Year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Company is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental
and social sustainable development. As a responsible enterprise, the
Company is in compliance with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong in terms of the environmentally friendliness,
health as well as safety and adopts effective measures, conserves energy
and reduces waste.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, every Director of the
Company together with every former Director of the Company shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any liability,
action, proceeding, claim, demand, costs, damages or expenses, including
legal expenses, whatsoever which they or any of them may incur in the
execution of their office or otherwise in relation thereto. During the Year,
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance coverage had
been arranged in respect of legal action that might be taken against the
Directors and officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation (if any). Each of the non-executive Directors
has been appointed for an initial fixed term of three years and shall be
eligible for re-election in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the “Investment Management Agreement” and “Lease
Agreement” mentioned in the sections headed “Exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” and “Non-Exempt Continuing Connected
Transaction” below, no contracts of significance, to which the Company
and the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which any Director or an entity connected with any Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or
at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save the Investment Management Agreement and Potential Conflicts
of Interest respectively disclosed on pages 26 to 39 of the Report of
the Directors, the Company has not entered into any contract with any
individuals, firms or corporate entities to manage or regulate the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 1 June 2015, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 May 2015.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.

The Company operates the share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Company’s operations. The eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme are full time or part time employees of the Company
(including any directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not, of the Company); and any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including any
sublicensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any subtenants)
of the Company or any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or may contribute to the Company.
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The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of shares in issue on 28 May 2021 as the Company has sought the
approval of the shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the 10%
limit under the Share Option Scheme. The total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme (including options granted but
not yet exercised and options available for issue) is 47,225,910 Shares,
representing approximately 3.58% of the total number of issued Shares as
at the date of this annual report. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years commencing from 28 May 2015.

As disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 12 May 2015, the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each participant or grantee (including exercised and
outstanding options) in any twelve month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Where it is proposed that any
offer is to be made to a participant (or where approximate, and existing
grantee) which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the twelve month period
up to the including the relevant date of grant to exceed such limit, such
offer and any acceptance thereof must be conditional upon shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such participant (or where appropriate,
and existing grantee) and his, her or its associated abstaining from voting.

The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the Board, but shall not be lower than the highest
of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date on which the Board approves the making
of the offer for the grant of options (the “Date of Grant”), which must
be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share. The time of acceptance of an offer for the grant of options shall not
be later than 21 days from the Date of Grant. A non-refundable nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of
an option. There is no specified minimum period under the Share Option
Scheme for which an option must be held or the performance target which
must be achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme.
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During the year, there was no options granted or exercised under the
Share Option Scheme. The number of options available for grant under
the scheme mandate limit at the beginning and the end of the Year was
43,210,747.

Particulars to the Company’s Share Option Scheme are set out in Note
21 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executives of
the Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'/OTHER PERSON'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Shareholders’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2023, the following person (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each of the
Company

FR - BEREBRENERLKITERR
W RFEN R FERBIEFT R ERE TR
RIEE IS B 543,210,747 15 °
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Approximate

Number of Number of % of issued

Capacity in shares held shares held share capital of

Name of shareholder which shares are held (Direct Interests) (Indirect Interests) the Company

e33R ] FrEiROAHA ERAT S BT

BR®ES BB REFERG 2515 (EEER) (BEER) BRAZHHEI

CAS International Investment Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
management Company Limited corporation (Note 2)
REHEE S (MF5E2)
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Approximate

Number of Number of % of issued
Capacity in shares held shares held share capital of
Name of shareholder which shares are held (Direct Interests) (Indirect Interests) the Company
FERHEE FERHER EARRFEET
e YT RITER® 25145 (EEER) (BEER) REAZBAEI L
CAS International Investments Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
Holdings Co., Limited corporation (Note 2)
ZEHEE R (fzE2)
China Science International Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
Investment Company Limited corporation (Note 2)
ZPE A E R (FF3E2)
Radiant Goldstone International Beneficial Owner 315,000,000 23.87
Group Limited (Note 2)
EmEAA (FF3E2)
B RHR R E R ORI Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
BRAA corporation (Note 2)
S )k E M i (fF3E2)
58 Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
corporation (Note 2)
TP A E (FF3E2)
B Interest in controlled 315,000,000 23.87
corporation (Note 2)
2P A E (f¥zE2)
15 38 Beneficial Owner 129,640,000 9.82
Em#EA A
Choi Koon Shum Interest in controlled 117,898,595 8.93
corporation (Note 3)
2R S ) B M i (FF3E3)
Sunwah Kingsway Capital Interest in controlled 117,898,595 8.93
Holdings Limited corporation (Note 3)
FEEES/RIERBRAT TP A E R (MI5E3)
Festival Developments Limited Interest in controlled 117,898,595 8.93
corporation (Note 3)
ZE A E R (FF3E3)
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Approximate

Number of Number of % of issued
Capacity in shares held shares held share capital of
Name of shareholder which shares are held (Direct Interests) (Indirect Interests) the Company
e33R ] FrEiRHBEA ERAT S BT
BRES BB REFBERG 2515 (EEER) (BEEzE) BRAZ#OEI
Kingsway Lion Spur Beneficial Owner 117,898,595 8.93
Technology Limited (Note 3)
EnBBA (MF5E3)
Wang Dingben Beneficial Owner 68,330,000 5.18
EnBBA
Note: Bt
1. As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 1,319,700,274 issued shares. 1. F2023F 12 A318 » RAQAAHEAE1,319,700,274 §%
BEITRG °
2. To the best information, knowledge and belief of the Directors, Radiant Goldstone 2. BE SR - 2% k{5 Radiant Goldstone
International Group Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of CAS International International Group Limited /& CAS International
Investments Holdings Co., Limited (“CASIIH"). CASIIH is in turn wholly owned by Investments Holdings Co., Limited ([CASIH]) 892 &
CAS International Investment Management Company Limited (“CASIIM"). CASIIM is Bff /& X A] o CASIIH BIJ R CAS International Investment
owned as to 36% by KB HIEEZR ORI AR AT ("EKER ") and as to Management Company Limited ([ CASIM |) & &
34% by China Science International Investment Company Limited (“CSII"). &k & £ A - CASIMEE KB EIEEZRKR ORI BR
is owned as to 90% by Z=3#£% and CSll is owned as to 85% by Mr. ¥ % . A A ([M& A B2 ]) & China Science International
Investment Company Limited ([ CSII]) % B # & 36%
K 34% ##E % o B BHE B ZF SR 90% 1 o [
CSIER & L A HEB 85% M o
3. To the best information, knowledge and belief of the Directors, Kingsway Lion Spur 3. BEEMAM - 2% KRB  Kingsway Lion

Technology Limited (“KLSTL") is a wholly owned subsidiary of Festival Developments
Limited (“FDL"). FDL is wholly owned by Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings
Limited. As at 30 June 2023, Mr. Choi Koon Shum was interested and/or deemed to be
interested in 57.02% of the issued share capital of Sunwah Kingsway.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company has

not been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors or chief

executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section

“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares,

underlying shares and debentures”) who had interests or short positions in

the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are required to be

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2023

Spur Technology Limited ([ KLSTLJ) /4 Festival
Developments Limited ([FDL) #) & & [f{ & A &) ° FDL
HIEESCMIERERARIZERSE - R2023F
6 A30H BB ALENRNEES257.02% B #IT
BAREEAER N IERREE R

B ESCETEESN - 7A2023F 12 A31H AR
BT REMNEEFMEMAL(EERAAA
FETHABRIN BEIEZHRIEEK
FETHRABRERD - BEARD RERE Z#E
@ RORR ] — &) AR R AR (5 kA8 BE A 15
HEREFS KAEEIEIBCEREELR
RRBBFEZECMZERSIAE -



RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of related party transaction of the Company, i.e. the Investment
Management Agreement, during the Year are set out in Note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report and constitutes
a continuing connected transaction as defined under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during the Year. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Details of the continuing connected transactions are summarised in
the sections headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” below.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following continuing connected
transactions, details of which were disclosed in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Custodian Agreement

The Company had appointed Bank of Communications Trustee Limited
(the “Custodian”) as custodian since 2019. The custodian agreement with
Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Custodian Agreement”)
is effective and will continue to be in force until terminated by either the
Company or the Custodian by giving the other party not less than 30 days
advance notice in writing.

Pursuant to the Custodian Agreement, the Company will pay the
Custodian a monthly fee of the higher of (a) the net asset value of the
portfolio of the Company at each month equal to the rate 0.04% per
annum, or (b) HK$12,500 per month.

During the Year, the total custodian fee of HK$150,000 was paid by the
Company to the Custodian.

The Custodian is regarded as a connected person of the Company under
Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the service provided by the
Custodian to the Company under the Custodian Agreement constituted a
continuing connected transaction of the Company.
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Lease Agreement

During the Year, the Company had signed a 26-months lease agreement
for the rights to use the office premises commencing on 1 January 2023
(the “Lease Agreement”) with China State Ventures Group Limited (the
“Landlord”), a private company whose director is Mr. Huang Bin, the co-
chairman and non-executive Director of the Company. Pursuant to the
Lease Agreement, the Company will pay the Landlord a monthly lease
payment (including management fee) of HK$100,000.

During the Year, the anticipated lease payment (including management
fee) was HK$1,200,000.

The Lardlord is regarded as a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors anticipate that the fees
payable to the Landlord under the Lease Agreement will not exceed HK$3
million and the applicable percentage ratios calculated for the purpose of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules will be, on an annual basis, less than 5%.
Accordingly, the Lease Agreement constitutes a de minimis continuing
connected transaction and is exempt from, reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders approval requirements
under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Lease Agreement
constitutes an exempt continuing connected transaction of the Company.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the investment management agreement dated 30 November
2020 (the “Investment Management Agreement”), the Company
appointed Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment
Manager”) as its investment manager to provide the Company with
investment management services for period of three years from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2023. The Investment Manager is entitled to receive
from the Company a management fee accruing monthly at the annual
amount of HK$600,000 and payable monthly in advance from 1 January
2021 onwards.

During the Year, the management fee of HK$600,000 was paid and
payable by the Company.

The Investment Manager is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Chan Cheong
Yee, an executive Director, is also a director of the Investment Manager.
Accordingly, the service provided by the Investment Manager to the
Company under the Investment Management Agreement constituted a
continuing connected transaction of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ OPINION ON CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In the opinion of the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, the terms of and the transactions contemplated under the
Investment Management Agreement, the Custodian Agreement and the
Lease Agreement have been entered into after arm’s length negotiation,
on normal commercial terms, and in the ordinary course of business of the
Company, and are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company
and the shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Company’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of
the non-exempt continuing connected transaction disclosed above by the
Company in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Currently the Investment Manager and their directors, officers and
employees provide management and advisory services to a number of
hedge funds, mutual funds and managed discretionary accounts with
similar investment objectives to the Company.

From time to time conflicts of interest may arise between the interest of
the Company and those of other clients. In such situations, the Investment
Manager will have regard to its obligations to the Company to act in the
best interests of the Company, so far as is practicable having regard also to
its obligations to the other clients.

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee is a Director and a director of the Investment
Manager and is involved in the day-to-day operations of each of these
entities. This may give rise to conflicts of interest.

As the overall interests of the Company and Investment Manager are
aligned, the Directors are of the view that Mr. Chan will be able to act
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. In addition,
all major decisions of each of these companies will be made by their
respective board of directors of these companies as a whole and not at the
sole discretion of Mr. Chan. In the case of the Company, this includes the
independent non-executive Directors and the non-executive Directors.
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Mr. Chan will maintain confidentiality in respect of the information of each
of the funds managed by the Investment Manager. They are also aware
of their obligations under the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong’s Internal Control Guidelines that they are required to establish and
ensure the integrity and security of all information relevant to the business
operations of the respective entities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights in respect of the shares of
the Company under the articles of association of the Company although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 40 to 56,
the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the
Year and up to the date of this report.

CHANGE IN AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited resigned as auditors of the Company
with effect from 16 December 2022.

Elite Partners CPA Limited, has been appointed as the auditors of the
Company with effect from 16 December 2022, to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited and to
hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

Elite Partners CPA Limited will retire at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in the auditors of the

Company in the preceding three years.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2023

RELKHSHREEEATENTEEENHE
BRE - WENANEREREBESIMES
BERZEeRNIERESI THEE  REA
B REREAHEREGRENAEER T

BRLZE -

BrREER

HAREHE LT ETAELERERERS -
ARAABERAANALEEBEARRBRMNHNE
SRR BV IRSC -

BBERER

ARRL AABERR AT HRFEROMERE
AHBERER

EER

BREIES6ALEERREMBEEEIN - &K
REARAFEEEARERH—BEET LR
A SR C1FTE 2 X EATRINAA BT
AIfERSL

ERZEE

B2t ESA R AR E B IR AZE
b - 852022612 A16 B4R -

T EEeMERMERAREREZTAN
NEZEAED - 52022F 12 A16 B4 - A
BHERE SR EBAERA R EE 2R
TR AREERAAR TERRAFASHE
Bl o

FATTEE SR N EHAARABTENA AR
ERRBFARE LRE  UNAEBRLREE
BB -

B EXAREEIN  RARBI=F AU EE &
H b A2 2RED o



HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had eight full-time employees,
one executive Director, four non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. Details of the fees or emoluments
of Directors in respect of their services rendered to the Company and staff
cost during the Year are set out in Note 8 and Note 9 respectively to the
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of
this report.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Bin
=2
Co-Chairman

bE T
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of the Company has committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the Company to
formulate its business strategies and policies, and manage the associated
risks through effective internal control procedures. It will also enhance the
transparency and accountability of the Company to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and creditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied most of the principles set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view that throughout the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Company was in compliance with the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all
the Directors of the Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight members,
one of which is executive Director, namely Mr. Chan Cheong Yee. The
other seven members comprise four non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Huang Bin, who is the Co-Chairman of the Company, Mr. Choi Chit Sze
Jackson, who is the Co-Chairman of the Company, Mr. Choi Koon Ming,
and Ms. Xiao Ruimei and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tong Yun Lung, Mr. Sze Tak Chi and Mr. Sui Fuxiang. The
relationship of Mr. Choi Koon Ming and Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson is
uncle and nephew, there is no relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) among other members of the
Board. The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profiles of Directors” on pages 20 to 25 of this annual report.

The Board held four meetings during the year ended 31 December
2023. The Board is responsible, inter alia, for establishing the investment
objective and policies of the Company, for complying with the
Company'’s investment restrictions, for monitoring the Company'’s
performance and for the appointing, supervising, directing and, if
necessary, removing any of the Company’s service providers, including
the Investment Manager.

Current composition of the Board, including names of the independent
non-executive Directors, is disclosed in all corporate communications to
shareholders of the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information and accounts
of the Company. The Directors may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the Company. The
Company will, upon request, provide separate independent professional
advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge their duties to the
Company.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Company’'s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through its
committees, leads and provides direction to management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Company’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal
control and risk management systems are in place. All Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum
of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-
executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of
regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board
for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2023

EXeRRRENEEARFYEEARRFZ
B REORRANRR  ARERAFEREER
7\

g BB ERBREEERR  REE
EBRHSIBRTM EEARANEERME
RER - WHERIZ S R 2 B R BR ER A R i i 32
HE 2RES (BRBUINTES) YRE
EFETRSBAM EEEBRLR B NE
£ FBESURBRERF - BUIFRITES
BERRAQAANREEEERS WREE

SRITE REETHREERBBERDN
B o

EXeREREMBEREE ER S NEE
EH RBELEE ANEEMEARER E
AR5 (LR BEES M EmRERR) W15
BER RAEEERARAEMERNEESH
BRATEFTERE EERBAANRRET
BENEEZBANERTEERE -

EECRHEAEXERRE

BEREEBEEERNEC  UAREBITER
B IRRREHESSHNERBRISAE AR -

BEMZINESONEBER T 2RI AR
Bl NRERNSEERBARRXGREE
ARFEMRHER LM R RBEAEREE T
EEMNBAERET-



Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the 8B 3z

Company’s expenses.

A summary of training received by the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2023 according to the records provided by the Directors is as

follows:

Name of Directors
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Seminar and training on
corporate governance,
regulatory development and
other relevant topics

BREEESR BEERER

BEENS HL 4t 48 B8 3 7B A0 38 B R 3% 3

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee PREE%LAE v

Mr. Gu Xu BBEE v
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (7R 202356 A 15 HEL )

Non-executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Huang Bin =& 4

Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson EREREA v

Mr. Choi Koon Ming ZR AR S A 4

Ms. Xiao Ruimei EEE S v

Mr. Wong Dingben FTAREA v
(Resigned on 8 December 2023) (72023412 A8 HEIT)

Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BB E v
(Resigned on 3 January 2023) (7A20234 1 A3 HEHE)

Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES

Mr. Tong Yun Lung ERHRLE v

Mr. Sze Tak Chi PEIEEE S A 4
(Appointed on 15 June 2023) (R2023F6 A15BEERT)

Mr. Sui Fuxiang FEfEiE e A 4
(Appointed on 15 June 2023) (R2023F 6 A15AEZEF)

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi Al E v
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (7220234 6 A 15 HEF{E)

Mr. Leung Wai Lim RMERRE S 4
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (720236 B 15 HEHT)

Mr. Sun Boquan BBazk4s 4

(Resigned on 15 June 2023)

(7202346 A 15 HEHT)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Board has at all times complied with the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to having a minimum of four independent
non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board)
with one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, which allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgement to better safeguard
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement or
further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what actions
of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board
performance, for instance, addressing individual training and development
needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the Board
will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board Independence
Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board which will collectively
discuss the results and the action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness

of the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism and the results were
satisfactory.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are available to the shareholders on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

All members of each Board committee consist of non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors only and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed
"Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 4 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, audit plan and relationship with
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, risk management system, internal control or other matters of
the Company. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
December 2023 to review interim and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on the financial reporting, operational
and compliance controls, the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems, scope of work and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties. The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting
principles and policies adopted by the Company and the annual results and
audited financial statement for the Year.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors twice without the
presence of the executive Directors during the Year.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation) (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (i) determining
the terms of the specific remuneration package of the Directors and
senior management; (iii) reviewing and approving performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Directors from time to time; and (iv) reviewing and approving matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2023 to consider the relevant matters regarding the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company and the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management and other
related matters. No material matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were required to be reviewed or approved
by the Remuneration Committee during the year.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategies, developing and
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would also discuss and make
recommendations to the Board on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant
criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2023 to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, and to
consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at
the AGM.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted an updated Board Diversity Policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that
the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is
committed to achieving diversity at all levels and will consider a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional
and industry experience.
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The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diverse
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered. The Board will consider setting
measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity Policy and review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and
ascertain the progress made towards achieving those objectives.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board
is sufficiently diverse and will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Company and
considers that the current gender diversity is satisfactory. The following
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table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the Company, including HHIAQAFR2EET (BREEEE ol B
the Board and senior management as at the date of this Annual Report. fZ) BRIt Bl o

Female Male

kog:3 B4

Board EFg 13% (1) 87% (7)

Senior Management SAAEIEE 33% (1) 67% (2)

Other employees Hitg g 60% (3) 40% (2)

Overall workforce ErRELH N 31% (5) 69% (11)
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and
appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of
the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and
the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

o Character and integrity;

o Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

o Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the Board
and independence of the proposed independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at
general meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RE-ELECTION

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The independent non-executive
Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term of 3 years,
subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

The circular to shareholders of the Company with notice of the AGM
contains biographical details of all the Directors proposed to be re-elected
at the meeting to enable shareholders of the Company to make an
informed decision on re-election of Directors.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AT EEHESRER
MEETINGS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board Committee SEBEHEARTINEZE 2023412 A31HIE
meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the year FERITHNEEEREELZEeeZULERE

ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the table below: RERFERER T
Meeting attended/held
HE/ BTEERE
Annual/
Extraordinary
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meetings
RREBF/
=g ENZEE ¥MzEg REZEE BRAE
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REZEE 44 - - - N
Mr. Gu Xu BERLAE
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (R2023F 6 A 15 EHE) 1/1 - - - 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Huang Bin EREE 34 - - - N
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson ERBAL 414 - - - 171
Mr. Choi Koon Ming ERATE 44 - - - N
Ms. Xiao Ruimei HhELL 34 - - - n
Mr. Wang Dingben ITAR%E
(Resigned on 8 December 2023) (R2023F12 A8 REHT) ViE; - - - 11
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BHALE
(Resigned on 3 January 2023) (R2023F 1 A3EET) 0/0 - - - 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Tong Yun Lung EHERRE 44 22 1/1 N 1/1
Mr. Sze Tak Chi ML A
(Appointed on 15 June 2023) (R2023E6A15HEZRT) 313 11 0/0 0/0 0/0
Mr. Sui Fuxiang BRfLE
(Appointed on 15 June 2023) (R2023E6A15HERT) 213 11 0/0 0/0 0/0
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi EdEE
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (R2023F 6 A 15 &) 1/1 N 1/1 N 11
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RIERTE
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (R2023F 6 A 15 EHE) 1/1 N 1/1 N 11
Mr. Sun Boguan Biazik
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (R2023%F 6 A 15 ) 1/1 N 1/1 N 1/1
Note: Mr. Sze Tak Chi and Mr. Sui Fuxiang were appointed as independent non-executive  [ff#E : FEfE st & M@ L AR 20236 A 15 HEZR (T
Directors on 15 June 2023. The Board had not held any annual/extraordinary general RBUATES EFENRERSRLSTRIER
meeting, Remuneration Committee meeting and Nomination Committee meeting after REMRREFAS REFIAE FHEES
their appointment. EERRRZEGgE -

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting with ~ RAFE - REHBITESS S 0 EFEN
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other fE2B8 HMEFHFEHNIER T B IFRITS
Directors during the Year. ERITEE o
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
for each financial year and to present the interim results, annual financial
statements, and related announcements to shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent auditors
of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 66 to
72.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are in place both at the
Company and the Investment Manager level. The Investment Manager
has in place a comprehensive risk management and internal control policy
which includes procedures requiring regular performance of various
risk analysis on the Company’s portfolio and close monitoring of the
portfolio against the Company’s investment objective, policies and
restrictions.
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At the Company level, a risk committee (the “Risk Committee”) which
consists of Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, an executive Director, relevant staffs
and consultants, is responsible for monitoring the operational and
portfolio risks to the Company and monitoring the Investment Manager
including reviewing whether the investment objectives, policies and
restrictions are being followed by the Investment Manager. In case
of any deviation, the Risk Committee will discuss deviations with the
Investment Manager immediately and monitor remedial action. For all
material deviations, the Risk Committee will formulate recommendations
to the Board on the appropriate remedial actions to be taken. The Risk
Committee meets on a monthly basis, or more regularly if a meeting is
requested by any risk committee member.

The Board, as supported by the Risk Committee, the Audit Committee
as well as the management, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the Year, and taking into account the internal audit review
performed the Company. considered that such systems are effective and
adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the
Year is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report”

in this annual report.

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s
independent auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, for audit services is
HK$570,000, and non-audit service is HK$150,000 respectively.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tai Man Hin Tony, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is the
company secretary of the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Tai has undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convening extraordinary general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company, general meetings shall be
convened on the written requisition of any members of the Company
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s),
provided that such requisitionist(s) hold(s) as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than ten per cent in the Net Asset Value of the shares
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to
be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months after the 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
Director of the Company are laid down in Article 34.3 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a Director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing
of the intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed
by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as
a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the registered
office of the Company. The minimum length of the period during which
such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and the period for
lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries or request to the Company, for
the attention of Company Secretary, by fax: (852) 2706 9544, or mail to
22/F., CS Tower, 50 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company
has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy which sets out various
communication channels to maintain transparency, ensure that the
Shareholders and other investors have timely access to any information
on material developments of the Company, thereby facilitating their
understanding of the Company’s performance and prospects. The
Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders
and in particular, through annual general meetings or other general
meetings.

The Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee will make
themselves available at the annual general meeting to meet with the
shareholders and answer their enquiries.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.chinaneweconomyfund.com, where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’s financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

During the Year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy through
discussions amongst Board members during board meetings. The
Company has reviewed communication activities and engagement
with Shareholders conducted in 2023 and was satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy which allowed Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the conditions
and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend
for a financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has not made any changes to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report (the "ESG
Report”) has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange. In respect
of the information concerning “corporate governance”, please refer to the

relevant parts of the Company’s annual report.

The ESG Report describes the ESG performance made by the Company
during the Year. The scope of the ESG Report covers the business
operation in the management head office at Hong Kong.

The Board of the Company recognises the importance of ESG in meeting
the changing expectations of stakeholders while enhancing the value and
performance of the Company. Hence, the Board working together with
the management have taken on the overall responsibility of assessing and
identifying risks associated with ESG matters of the Company, and engage
in the mission to promote environmentally and socially sustainable culture
among all its employees to maintain long-term growth of the Company.

This culture enables the Company to formulate appropriate ESG policies
and procedures, to monitor and measure the progress of the ESG efforts,
and also to report on its performances to investors and key stakeholders.
The Company values its stakeholders and their views relating to its
businesses and environmental, social and governance issues. In order
to understand and address stakeholders’ concerns, the Company
communicates with its key stakeholders including but not limited to
investors, customers, government bodies, employees, suppliers and
communities through different channels.

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Company
takes into account the stakeholders’ expectations and strives to improve
its performance through mutual cooperation with the stakeholders,
resulting in creating greater value for the community.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality: Through regular discussions with the stakeholders of
various aspects, the Company identifies ESG-related topics, assesses their
materiality and relevance. The management also reviews the material ESG
issue to ensure that stakeholder’s opinions are reflected.

Quantitative: This ESG Report discloses relevant key performance
indicators supported by quantitative information within the environmental
and social categories, and if applicable, comparisons with past
performance.
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Balance: The Company followed the principles of accuracy, objectivity,
and fairness in reporting the sustainability performance and challenges
related to the Company and stakeholders.

Consistency: The Company adheres to the ESG Reporting Guide in its
disclosures. As far as reasonably practicable, the Company has adopted
consistent methodologies when calculating the key performance indicators
or any changes that affect a meaningful comparison would be stated.

The aspects and key performance indicators as defined in the ESG
Reporting Guide which were considered to be relevant and material to the
Company will be presented below.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL AREA

Aspect A1: Emissions and Waste

During the Year, the Company has complied with relevant
environmental laws and regulations, including Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that has an impact relating to air and
greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste of the Company
during the Year (2022: Nil).

No fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported during the Year
(2022: Nil).

Due to nature of the Company’s business, it produces no direct air
or direct GHG emissions. A small amount of GHG were emitted
indirectly during the Year from the consumption of electricity in
the office, which was supplied by power station where GHG were
directly emitted.

No hazardous waste was produced and there was no discharge
into water and land during the Year (2022: Nil). An insignificant
small amount of non-hazardous wastes were collected at the office,
which were primarily waste paper, office supplies, and domestic
wastes. Despite minimal impact to the environment, the Company
has implemented environmental-friendly measures to manage GHG
emissions and waste production as described in the later section
titled “environmental-friendly measures”.
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Scopes of GHG emissions BERBHHLZEE

Scope 1 — Direct emissions from operations that are owned or #;E1 — BARRIAEASIZES 2%
controlled by the Company, such as the use of company BEEZEEHEW WER
vehicle; NEE

Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions resulting from purchased #HE2 — BARRERIINBEEHATE
electricity consumed by the Company; A2 e R EERL

Scope 3 — Other indirect emissions that occur outside the 3 — ARFININEE 2 K5
Company, including both upstream and downstream PR BE LR T 28
emissions, such as methane gas generation at landfill W EHEE EEEAR
due to disposal of paper waste, GHG emissions due to EE W BUTEFIEIE
electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage RIKRSKEERE M5
by government departments and business air travel by BABREREBEEN - ARE
employees. B R IR 1T I8 TR o

The amount of emissions under these different GHG scopes in CO, RAFE  ZETRABEREBHETZ

equivalent ("CO,e") during the Year was as follows: BEME L Z&atirg2 ([ Z&8tikE

BIRR)WT:
(Units: Tonnes of CO2e) 2023 2022
(Bfy M-S REE) 2023 % 20226
Emission Emission
GHG emissions Major sources volume Intensities volume Intensities
BEREHN TERIR HhE BE BmE BE
(Note) (Note)
(B aE) (Bi3E)

Scope 1

g1

Direct emissions Nil - - - =

BEBEW i

Scope 2

g18%2

Energy indirect emissions Purchased electricity 4.36 0.55 7.06 1.18

BE R B HE AR BEE

Scope 3

g10%3

Other indirect emissions Disposal of paper 0.28 0.04 0.56 0.09

o R ERER

Total GHG emissions 4.65 0.58 7.62 1.27

BERBHEREE

Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of sk - BmERRAEE R 2 BEHERERAME B8

employees as at the end of the Year.. BEtE -
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The Company generated no scope 1 emissions and an insignificant
amount of scope 3 emissions during the Year. Approximately 4.36
tonnes of scope 2 emissions was generated during the Year. The
emission has been consistent since there has been no change in the
pattern of the Company’s electricity usage.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

As detailed in the section headed “Emissions and Waste”,
electricity consumption was a major source of indirect GHG emission
during the Year. The consumption of electricity was similar to that
in the same period in previous year. The amount of consumption by
types of energy or resources during the Year was as follows:

RAFE  ARBWEELERB 1 2 HR
W RELLVEHBIZHRY c AFE
LKA 36 MAFHHS 2 2 HENY) - AR AR
BlzBNEAEALEES  PINE—
HERFHRE -

BHEA2: ERER

g MR Y | — PRt - AE

RAFEREZEAERBIRZ TZHRE -
BEEREFRYPHES - RAFE - %

EERKERBERIE D 2 HFEEMT ¢

2022
2022 5

Energy and resources Unites Amount Intensities Amount Intensities
EERER By BE RnE HE mnE

(Note) (Note)

(MEE) (FftaE)
Electricity kWh 6,415 916 9,946 1,421
BN T RE
Paper Kilograms 7 117 19

MoK TR

Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of
employees as at the end of the Year.

The Company consumes water in the office from a centralised water
and sanitation system implemented in the building. The cost of water
consumption of the Company is inclusive in the monthly rent, and
the building management does not individually measure the water
consumption of each tenant and hence no relevant data can be
collected.

Due to the nature of the Company’s business no packaging
material was used.

Paper was primarily used for office printing. During the Year, a total
of approximately 117 kg of paper was consumed, there was no
material change in the usage pattern of paper compared to previous
years.

Despite minimal impact to the environment, energy and resource
conservation are essential parts of the Company’s ESG strategy
which will be detailed in the later section titled “environmental-
friendly measures”.
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Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

The Company does not use any natural resources in the process of
its business, and hence the impact on the environment or natural
resources was minimal during the Year. Nonetheless the Company is
well aware of the importance in environmental protection, and has
adopted policies and a range of measures to minimise current impact
and manage any potential adverse impact in the future, persisting in
conducting our business in an environmentally responsible manner.
These policies and measures are described below.

Environmental-friendly measures

The Company has always put great emphasis on energy and resource
conservation, which is shown by its engagement in energy savings
and implementation of workplace strategies to reduce energy and
water consumptions. Accordingly, the Company has the following
measures which are regularly carried out to achieve its ESG strategy
in the course of the Company’s operations:

1. Employees are encouraged to use video/telephone
conferencing system to reduce business travel and take public
transportation wherever possible to lower environmental
impact from the burning of fossil fuel.

2. The Company has also implemented energy and water saving
practices, such as maintaining workplace temperature at a
comfortably low level with reference to the relevant standard
recommended by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department of the Hong Kong Government to reduce energy
use.

3. The Company engaged in environmental-friendly measures in
the workplace in the effort to lower energy consumption, for
instance, employees of the Company are reminded to minimise
their impact on the environment and the use of natural
resources when conducting business.

4. Waste reduction measures include monitoring and recording
paper usage on a monthly basis, and promoting the use of
recycled paper and double-sided printing are actively adopted
wherever possible.

5. The Company’s efficient use of resources and waste
reduction initiatives and guidelines are stipulated in the Staff
Handbook and policies where appropriate to educate and
promote ESG to employees.
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Aspect A4: Climate Change

There is no significant climate-related issues which had impacted,
and which may impact the Company due to nature of the
Company’s business.

SOCIAL SUBJECT AREAS

Aspect B1: Employment

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets
of the Company. Remuneration Committee was set up to providing
a fair and equitable workplace environment for employees, and
ensures that they are reasonably remunerated.

The Company has incorporated guidelines into the Staff Handbook,
covering all aspects of employment, including working hours, rest
periods, salary and welfare, code of conduct, and anti-bribery.
Employment policies in the Staff Handbook have been reviewed and
regularly updated.

The Company has fully complied with the Employment Ordinance,
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487), the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527) and the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602). The Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that has
an impact relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare during the Year
(2022: Nil).

As at the end of the Year, there were eight (included four males
and four females) full-time employees and one (included one male)
part-time employees employed by the Company (2022: Eight). There
were seven employees for the age range 30-50 years old and two
over 50 years old. The Company is based in Hong Kong and all of
its employees work at the Hong Kong office. During the Year, the
turnover rate is 37.5%.
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Company is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment for all of its employees, protecting them from any
potential occupational hazards. The tasks of the employees are
mainly office-based, and thus safety issues are not as pertinent
to the job nature. The Company also offers coverage on medical
insurance (including in-patient and out-patient) and compensation
to employees in the event of sickness and work-related injury.

During the Year, the Company complied with all relevant laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) in Hong Kong and did not record
any work-related fatality, injury or lost day in the past three years.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Company attaches great importance to the staff development
and quality of employee. The Company has offered training
opportunities from external organisations, and offers flexible training
time to facilitate all employees to reinforce skill sets and to keep
up-to-date with the latest knowledge in their profession.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Company is committed to preventing child and forced labour
in the workplace and complying with all applicable labour laws and
regulations on employment in Hong Kong.

The Company respects human rights and treats this as an important
factor when making investment in human capital in comprehensive
screening process in order to recruit employees with good quality.
The Company requires all job applicants to provide valid identity
documents and personal data and background information will
be collected and verified in details to ensure that they are lawfully
employable prior to confirmation of any employment and preventing
illegal workers, child labour and forced labor.

Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep within standard
work hours and the employees are entitled to annual leave,
sick leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and
compassionate leave.
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. Unlike
those companies which manufacture, trade or provide services, the
Company has relatively few suppliers and a very simplistic supply
chain. The environmental and social impacts with regards to supplier
chain is relatively low.

The Company’s suppliers are mainly those third-party suppliers
providing services such as information technology, property
management, advertising, legal and consulting, and third-party
suppliers of goods such as office equipment, and printing and
stationery. All of the suppliers are based in Hong Kong.

The Company maintains practices that build up positive relationships
with its suppliers as well as focusing on service quality when selecting
suppliers. The Company purchases from a list of approved suppliers
that have been awarded for their quality of goods and services
through the selection process.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Due to the Company’s business nature, it does not deliver any
product or service and hence product responsibility is not applicable
to the Company.

The Company has complied with relevant law and regulations with
regards to data protection and privacy when transacting with third-
party and dealing with member share registration matters.

Unauthorised copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential
information, including identities and records of transactions of
registered members, are strictly prohibited. During the Year, the
Company has not received any significant complaint from any
stakeholders (2022: Nil).
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Company has strict policies that ensures adherence to the
highest ethical standards and maintains a corporate culture
of integrity and justice to prevent, detect and report all types
of corruption, including bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. In complying with provisions included in the Staff
Handbook, employees at all levels are expected to conduct in an
appropriate manner, with integrity, impartiality and honesty.

The Company has complied with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant laws in regions in which the Company invests. The Company
was not aware of any significant matter related to corruption during
the Year (2022: Nil).

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Company focuses on the surrounding communities and
encourages employees to participate in various local community
activities and events on a voluntary basis on the focus areas. The
Company will make the best use of its influence to address the
community needs and will continue to act socially responsible in the
future.
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To the shareholders of China New Economy Fund Limited
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of China New Economy Fund
Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 73 to 159, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and of
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRSs")
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant (the “HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

REEREE

Carrying amounts of unlisted investments

FLMEERAEE

As disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements, the
investment portfolio includes investments in unlisted
investments.
W IE MR T 16T E - RELSBRENIFE LR
BHRE -

We identified the carrying amounts of unlisted investments
as a key audit matter due to the significance of these
investments in the financial statements, and because
determining the valuation methodology and the inputs
involved estimation uncertainty and required significant
judgement to be applied by the investment manager and the
board of directors.

EEMTE LI TRENEEAEA —HEREREE R
ARERIZEREEVBRRPER L URETER
BERERBAESNSENGEATHELERTEREE
BAREEGERSEAE -

RREXEER

RREZFRIREESHREAE - HER
HHENMBRENECRASEENFH HF
EFEDRESERERYBRRAMHABRE
HEITRIE  MESTEHHERTREHERE
H o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

M ELERERSEE

Our procedures in relation to the carrying amounts of
unlisted investments included:

BEERFLTREREENEFEHE

o Obtaining understanding the design and operating
effectiveness of the financial reporting controls we
considered significant in the valuations and model
approval process;

s EERREMENMREMLERETBEENMBR
TEENRFTLEBRRR

o Assessing the valuation methodologies applied for
appropriateness against accepted market practice;

o FHMAEFMERMMEETERENAARNTHEN
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEEZER M ELERERER

o Comparing the assumptions used in the Company’s
models and methodologies to independent external
sources where possible;

o IR EBERAAKERITAMARREE T HINBK
IR (B AT

o Assessing the valuation techniques and inputs
used, particularly where valuation inputs were
unobservable;

o FHMEPTAMERMLEAE  FRIREHRERAE
TABER

o Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, such
as latest financial information/statements approved by
independent auditors;

o HHBWABBREXFER  OINLB ZBENIE
BRI E R WK

o Comparing the recent transaction price with the
valuation basis provided by management; and

o UBUIHNRZERAEEERMHOMGEREM &

o Evaluating the adequacy of financial statement
disclosures.

o FHEMBBRIBBERLRED -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Company’s financial reporting process.

Hit&#

BERREFHEMENER - EMMENEREF
CREMBFNER M RR LB S %
B BRED SRR ©

EERMBREANBEEL TREEMER - &
FWARREMERBERERTANETER

RESELZIMBRRE  BEORANNEL
AR RELBIT - ZBABARRE R
PSRN E SEBFRBIRFERNERE
BAEE  REUT FAREREREL  ER
EZEHITNTIE NRESRARBENE
EEAERML  FEARERFE - Ky

EEYMATRE -
EEREEEAAESRMBBRRA
AENEE

ARMESTARERBER ST ENZES
XE%E’\JIB?%M&‘%#E%@@E'J oIStk
BERERAEREAEMNATFELNMBERE -
UREREER/VLENEBABDIEH - AR
RERBM B HRERE A FHE BRRGFRERME
B EAERRAL

KRB GHRRE - EFRENME BERFARF
BRREMRE S - WK FR E R %M*ﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁ%lﬁ
(ﬁﬂi@ﬁﬁ) FRIFEEHSE BERRBBIUFLL

: Eﬁﬁ%ttZ?l\iﬂﬁi\@,ﬁ‘%TﬂE’\Jﬁ#/f :
Tﬁ'Jéﬁ%ﬁH AFTERERERN A

BEERABREEE BRFANMBE®mER

FEETEEREBR AR / FiR 2023

69



Independent Auditors’ Report
AR A R s

70

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Wai Nam, William with practising certificate
number: PO5957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024

Level 23,

YF Life Tower,

33 Lockhart Road,
Wan Chai,

Hong Kong
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Bam LA EENER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z=2023F 12 A318 ILFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
REVENUE WA 5 126,339 3,116,109
Net loss on financial assets at fair value BAFESBERINEZ®
through profit or loss BB E BT E 6 (35,365,185) (39,041,595)
Other operating expenses HMEERS (17,015,757) (16,725,072)
OPERATING LOSS EEEE (52,254,603) (52,650,558)
Finance costs B SRR 7(a) (182,240) (94,517)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BR%L AT E5 1B 7(b) (52,436,843) (52,745,075)
Income tax expense FrEHiA X 12 - -
LOSS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE ApaEBEREEAEN
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE FRAEBEREZHEREE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY (52,436,843) (52,745,075)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ARAEBEEREEAEN
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BREER
THE COMPANY 13
— Basic —HK (0.04) (0.04)
- Diluted —i#E (0.04) (0.04)
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Statement of Financial Position

BISAIRR

As at 31 December 2023 72023512 H31H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Right-of-use assets CRREE 14(a) 1,419,547 518,327
Deposits by A 15 200,000 126,740
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 1,619,547 645,067
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other JERTFRIE ~ e R HE AR
receivables I 15 1,623,057 4,483,150
Amount due from brokers JEUR AZ 42 A TR 15 8,350,713 10,003
Financial assets at fair value through BATEEBRERIESY
profit or loss TREE 16 66,340,464 116,438,778
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEe%E 18 17,309,428 27,830,332
Total current assets MEEELE 93,623,662 148,762,263
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEaE
Other payables and accruals B IBE R ERTE A 19 2,847,326 6,595,551
Amount due to a related party FE — & B 20 1,100,000 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 14(b) 1,260,032 406,525
Total current liabilities mEaEEE 5,207,358 7,002,076
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 88,416,304 141,760,187
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHEBERABEERE
LIABILITIES 90,035,851 142,405,254
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY kRBEME
Lease liabilities HEBE 14(b) 197,898 130,458
Total non-current liability FERBEERE 197,898 130,458
Net assets EERE 89,837,953 142,274,796
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEEITRA 22 52,788,011 52,788,011
Reserves W 37,049,942 89,486,785
Total equity EmEE 89,837,953 142,274,796
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE BREEZFE 23 0.07 0.11
Director Director
EZ EBZ
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Statement of Changes in Equity
BESS T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z=2023F 12 A318 ILFE

Share
Issued Share  Distributable options  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
ERITRE RVEE THIKEE  BRERE B H
HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
BT e BT B BT BT
(Note 22) (Note 22) (Note) (Note 21)
(MzE22) (FtaE22) (FtE) (FrsE21)
At 1 January 2022 M202%E1 718 34,568,595 192,058,831 15,427,143 4,010,000  (132,328576) 113,735,993
Shares issued during the year KEEBEIRD 17,284,298 60,495,042 - - - 77,779,340
Share issued expenses R BT - (514,131) - - - (514,131)
Share options exercise BERRE 935,118 4,758,301 - (1,674,750) - 4,018,669
Lapsed of equity-settled NEREENRHET
share-based payment ES - - - (558,250) 558,250 -
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ EREE K 2 H 18
for the year ek - - - - (52,745,075)  (52,745,075)
At 31 December 2022 and at R2022E12A31B R
1 January 2023 203F1818 52,788,011 256,798,043* 15,427,143* 1,777,000*  (184,515,401)* 142,274,796
Lapsed of equity-settled MEREENRHHIT
share-based payment ES - - - (1,218,500) 1,218,500 -
Loss and total comprehensive loss  AEEFER2AHE
for the Year ek - - = - (52,436,843)  (52,436,843)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12 8318 5278011 256798043+  15427,143* 558500+ (235733744 89,837,953

* These reserve accounts comprise the reserve of HK$37,049,942 (2022: HK$89,486,785)  * I ERER B BBV BMRREANZ 37,049,942
in the statement of financial position. 77T (2022 4F + 89,486,785 7T) ©

Note: Distributable reserve is a balance of credit derived from capital reduction which may be MsE © AT D IR A A A B E E ] 8) A A R AN R, m &

utilised by the directors of the Company. It gives greater flexibility to the Company to EZHERSBE - WAEARRRARTIRARE K3
declare dividends and/or to undertake any corporate exercise which requires the use of ETEMNESRARYRFEH 2 CEEBRHRE
distributable reserves in the future. REEE -
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Statement of Cash Flows
REnER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z2023F 12 A31HILFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes HK$ HK$
B & BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BETEHBZRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BT Bl &S 18 (52,436,843) (52,745,075)
Adjustment for: MLATIERAE
Finance cost IR TN 182,240 94,517
Dividend income from unlisted equity EEMHERESRREWA
securities 5 - (471,680)
Interest income from bonds EHF B U A = (528,110)
Interest income from promissory notes AR EER B WA = (1,657,808)
Bank interest income RITFELWA (26,339) (2,511)
Depreciation of right-of-use asset CRREERE 1,462,791 371,709
Net realised loss on financial assets at BAVEEBERE .
fair value through profit or loss CREECEREFRFE 6 59,123,751 11,246,814
Net unrealised (gain)/loss on financial BEATEBBERIERZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss & BI&E R E I
(), BEFE 6 (23,758,566) 27,794,781
(15,452,966) (15,897,363)
Payment for purchase of financial assetat ~ B EXATEZBIERIIEKZ
fair value through profit or loss TREE NN (6,596,627) (83,125,686)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at HEEREATFEBEBERIEKL
fair value through profit or loss CREEMBHA 18,895,783 36,999,940
Change in prepaid expenses and TEAT R =2 % E A B W kIR
other receivables 220,806 1,022,564
Change in amount due from brokers JEWUAS 42 A SR E B (8,340,710) 230,720
Change in accruals and other payable JEETE R M E e A 5108 & 1,345,936 5,427,105
Cash used in operations LEAMARS (9,927,778) (55,342,720)
Dividend income received from unlisted BUE LTS BEHFREWA
equity securities - 471,680
Interest received EWHR 26,339 (377,598)
Net cash flows used in operating activities LE AR REFE (9,901,439) (55,248,638)
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Statement of Cash Flows
WEMER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z2023F 124318 ILFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes HK$ HK$
M 5E BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RETBREZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares TR PTiS FIA = 81,798,009
Share issue expense B EEITH - (514,131)
Interest paid EARHE (1,944) (94,517)
Repayment of principal portion of BEHEAENEASE S
lease liabilities 14(b) (617,521) (387,577)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated BETES (T FER&
from financing activities REZEE (619,465) 80,801,784
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND BE&REEZE GB) i
CASH EQUIVALENTS FE (10,520,904) 25,553,146
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof ~ AFEEZHIRE MRS EE
year 27,830,332 2,277,186
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT rEERRERECEE
END OF YEAR 17,309,428 27,830,332
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND R&ERRESEEHRI
CASH EQUIVALENTS
— Cash and cash equivalents -BehBEeEE 18 17,309,428 27,830,332
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
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2.1

CORPORATION INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 1 February
2010 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company was
established for the purpose of acting as a closed-ended investment
company.

The Company’s registered office is at P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is at
22/F., CS Tower, 50 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The principal investment objective of the Company is to achieve
long-term capital appreciation through investing globally in both
private and public enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”), the
Company’s investment activities are managed by Evergrande
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment Manager”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of Appendix D2 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair values. The financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") except when
otherwise indicated.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BTSSR o

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Company has applied the following new and

amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which are

mandatorily effective for the Company’s annual period beginning on

1 January 2023 for the preparation of the financial statements:

IFRS 17 Including the June
2020 and December 2021
Amendments to (IFRS 17)

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The application of new and amendments to IFRSs in the current year

has had no material impact on the Company’s financial performance

and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the discloses

set out in these financial statements.
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2.3

2.4

AMENDMENTS TO IFRSS IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE

The Company has not early applied the following amendments to
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and IFRS 10 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
Presentation of or Non-current’

Financial Statements
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'
Amendments to IAS 7

and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 to be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Fair value measurement

The Company measures its equity instruments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Company. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in
the period in which it arises, (only if there are revalued assets in the
financial statements) unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Company as a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use
the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Company as a lessee (Continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Company exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Company as a lessee (Continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (i.e.,
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to
be low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Company has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs.
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset that is a debt instrument to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost
are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial
assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held
within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models and financials
assets which are equity instruments are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Company had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as revenue in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Company and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a passthrough arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and
rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred
control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Company could be required to repay.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Company compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Company
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs.

Stage 1 —Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include other payables and
accruals, amounts due to brokers and lease liability.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Revenue recognition

Dividend income is recognised on the date on which the investments
are quoted ex-dividend or, where no ex-dividend rate is quoted,
when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established and it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend can be measured reliably. Dividend income is
presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which
are disclosed separately in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

Revenue from sources other than dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
described below.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Income from profit guarantee is recognised when the amount is
received or receivable.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Company’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Company receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer at the date when the grant is made using a
binomial model.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 24 EREFTHERER ()
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

R0 RERB MR ()

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee RS GEER S AR ER 2 B EFA
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, BERERRE R SR K2 B
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions NEBEMEZNER - REE B 8aT

are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Company or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of diluted loss per share.

Related parties

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Company if that person:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company;
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 24 EXETBEREHR ()
INFORMATION (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BES (&)
(b) the entity is related to the Company if any of the following (b) A TEMIERER  BIRXEE
conditions applies: PAN/NSIPEREaLE
(i)  the entity and the Company are members of the same () ZEBHEAAFBER—SE
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and KK E AR GEBRREZMR
fellow subsidiary is related to the others; EEHY QNG B ARMAE
RIWELARIEEEME)
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy —FHEERS —ERME=
entity (or of an associate or joint venture of a member of NElHEERE (HAS—E
a group of which the other entity is a member); BFEEE®KE QR
EhENEEDREE)
(i) the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the (iy ZEERAQNAHRRE—ZF
same third party; ZAMEEhE:
(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other vy —EBEREAE-HFEENE
entity is an associate of the third entity; EhE mME—EBRZSE

==

RARTA K —REXR

—~
<

=
p=113

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the 2ER
benefit of employees of either the Company or an entity NEEHENEEREESN
related to the Company; B M M BB AR AT &)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) HEBX(FTHEAIALTES
identified in (a); X ELFES
(viiy a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (i) R@OFTHENATHZER
over the entity or is a member of the key management EEAFENBZER (%
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and SN E%"é% BABH
Hf—%KE
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) ZERBIEMBEENEM
part, provides key management personnel services to the BB ARIMARRSHAR A
Company or to the parent of the Company. RERBEZEZEEEABR
& o

96 China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2023



Notes to Financial Statements

BTSSR o

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 24 EXETBEREHR ()
INFORMATION (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BES (&)
Close members of the family of a person are those family members ZANTRERZ I KEERK 8 215 M
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person ERETRSE  BHURZEZATLT
in their dealings with the entity. HEFEZATHENRENE o
Share capital [N
The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity as the B DR Al 2RISR L AR () KETT
Company has full discretion on repurchasing the shares and on REDIK  RARINEBRE B RE
dividend distributions. oo
Issuance and acquisition of ordinary shares are accounted for as BOIRKBEBERZERZHIE -
equity transactions.
Upon issuance of shares, the consideration received is included in BITR D& - B R BT AR o
equity.
Transaction costs incurred by the Company in issuing or acquiring RRNANBEITRMER SR TARE
its own equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction HHR G KA R E S HURSIRR - I LA
from equity to the extent that they are incremental costs directly PRAT R B R 5 B IR (G AT G AR
attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have PR o

been avoided.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 24 EREFTHERER ()
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions are at the discretion of the Company. A
dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is accounted
for as a deduction from retained earnings. An interim dividend is
recognised directly as a liability in the period in which it is irrevocably
declared by the Board of Directors. A final dividend is recognised as

=% i3

RRARBMBERERBNDIK - ARAAR
RE R B DIRARITELNRE &AM
- FHREREZTS ARG E
REIBEZRERRSBE - REBRENE
BREBFRGRRMEZ AHEERRE

a liability in the period in which it is approved by the annual general f& o
meeting of shareholders.
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBELZEE

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash at banks, including term deposits, and
assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Company operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

The Company is exempted from all forms of taxation in Cayman
Islands, including income, capital gains and withholding taxes.
However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and capital
gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the
income. Withholding tax is a generic term used for the amount of
withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Company
presents the withholding tax separately from the gross investment
income in profit or loss.

Functional and presentation currency

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Hong
Kong dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The Company’s performance
is evaluated and its liquidity is managed in Hong Kong dollars.
Therefore, the Hong Kong dollar is considered as the currency that
most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions.
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies translations

Foreign currency transactions during the Year are translated at
the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising from translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

Foreign currency transactions gains and losses on financial
instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are
included in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income
as part of the “Net change in fair value of financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. Foreign exchange
differences on other financial instruments are included in profit
or loss in the statement of comprehensive income as “Foreign
exchange gains/loss, net”.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

LSP implications

The Group operates in Hong Kong and may be are obliged to pay LSP
to employees under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group
makes mandatory and voluntary MPF contributions to the trustee
who administers the assets held in a trust solely for the retirement
benefits of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an
employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’
MPF contributions was allowed under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR gazetted
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived
from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance
payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take
effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under
the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately
preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of
employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in respect of the
employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong”
which provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting
mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has
implemented the guidance published by the HKICPA in connection
with the LSP obligation retrospectively so as to provide more reliable
and more relevant information about the effects of the offsetting
mechanism and the abolition.
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Company operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Company in an independently administered fund. The
Company’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the financial statements were prepared.
However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Company. These changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex
tax regulations and changes in tax laws on foreign withholding
tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences
arising between the actual investment income and the assumptions
made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate
future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The Company
establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible
consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective
jurisdiction in which it invests. The amounts of these provisions are
based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity
and the responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation
may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions
prevailing in the respective domicile of investments.

Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair value of financial assets recorded in the statement
of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their
fair value is determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this
is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. The
estimates include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such
as the share price of the underlying investment, correlation, volatility
and transactions of shares. Changes in assumptions about these
factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments
in the statement of financial position and the level where the
instruments are disclosed in the fair value hierarchy.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

The suspended equity investments, unlisted equity investments,
promissory notes and unlisted bond have been valued based on
a market-based valuation technique as detailed in Note 26 to
the financial statements. The valuation requires the Company to
determine the comparable public companies (peers) and select the
price multiple. In addition, the Company makes estimates about the
discount for illiquidity and size differences. The Company classifies
the fair value of these investments as Level 3.

IFRS 13 requires disclosures relating to fair value measurements
using a three-tier fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of
the inputs used in measuring fair values. The level in the fair value
hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised
in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For
this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the
fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement
uses observable inputs that require significant adjustments based
on unobservable inputs, then that measurement is a Level 3
measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to
the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement,
considering factors specific to the asset or liability. To assess the
significance of a particular input to the entire measurement, the
Company performs a sensitivity analysis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Company is organised into business
units based on the categories of investments. During the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company has two reportable and
operating segments as follows:

Listed securities — Investments in equity securities listed on relevant
stock exchange.

Unlisted securities — Investments in open-ended fund, limited
partnership fund, private equity securities, unlisted bond and
promissory notes.

The geographical analysis of Company’s turnover and segment
results by geographical areas for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 is not presented as significant transactions of the
Company are mainly based in Hong Kong.

Further details of the Company’s investments are included in Note 6
and Note 16.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFHEFR (E)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Company’s results by operating AT AIREE DB DB ARA R EER
segments: EZ 9
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
tHE% kLRSS @t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F12A31HLEE
Segment revenue AEBEA - 100,000 100,000
Segment results DEEE (3,193,837) (31,934,209) (35,128,046)
Bank interest income RITRSHA 26,339
Unallocated expenses RAEHAE (17,335,136)
Loss before tax BT A E (52,436,843)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
W& FETMESR 4t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ202F1283181LFE
Segment revenue D EWA = 2,957,598 2,957,598
Segment results ANEEE (19,673,013) (17,912,793) (37,585,806)
Bank interest income RITHBWA 2,511
Government grants BT 156,000
Unallocated expenses RAEAE (15,317,780)
Loss before tax BT A E (52,745,075)
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the operating
segments derived revenue from dividend income, interest income
and income from profit guarantee earned from the investments held
by the segments. Segment results represented the net gains or losses
on changes in fair values of listed equity securities, private equity
securities, unlisted bond, open-ended fund, limited partnership
fund and promissory notes classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and the corresponding interest income,
dividend income as well as income from profit guarantee earned
by each segment without the allocation of administrative expenses,
finance costs, interest income from bank deposits, government
grants and the Investment Manager’s fees.

As management considers the Company’s nature of business to be
investment trading and there are no major customers, accordingly
no information regarding revenue derived from major customers is

N
Y

SETREFR (&)

i

HZE2023F K2022F 12 A31HIE4F
B e HMRARE D HIFIRE
BREUAI AR BUA ~ B B A K s FIR &
WA e DEEBEEDERIZATEER
BRIEreMmEEs LTERES
TLERERS  FLMES  FAHRAE
© BRABESNANZENFEE
B s SRS R FEE AR BRI B WA - AR
BIUA K& 5D EERELZ 5 MR FUA -
M RITHAX - BMBKA - RITHE
HFBWA - BSHEEARIEEERA
BROE -

MREEBRALTARNEBIE AR
ABSALEEBES  WHE2IE
BREEEEFHUANER -

presented.
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EmEHF ELEHREHF et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2023 2023412 A31H
Segment assets: DEBEEE
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEBBERVEZ
through profit or loss TREE 3,768,200 62,572,264 66,340,464
Unallocated assets A EE 28,902,745
Total assets BERE 95,243,209
Liabilities: BE:
Unallocated liabilities Ao BE 5,405,256
Total liabilities BEBE 5,405,256
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFIBEFR (E)
(Continued)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EWRESF I ETES HEt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT ETT BT
As at 31 December 2022 7R2022%F12 A31H
Segment assets: DEBEEE
Financial assets at fair value BATEEBBERYIEZ
through profit or loss SRAE 12,261,190 104,177,588 116,438,778
Unallocated assets ADEREE 32,968,552
Total assets BELE 149,407,330
Liabilities: afE:
Unallocated liabilities APERERE 7,132,534
Total liabilities BERE 7,132,534
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating REZESHRERR D EBHEEE B R
resources between segments, all financial assets at fair value through = AR AEEEBIERVEZSH
profit or loss are allocated to reportable segments. All other assets of BEHSHEE 2H/OIL - AN FIHET
the Company, including right-of-use assets, deposits, prepayments EHMWEE (REFEESE - 1Re 7
and other receivables, amounts due from brokers and cash and NEZIERE M EWSIE - EI RS A
cash equivalents, and all liabilities are not allocated to the operating BURESRESEME) RTE G BT E
segments. HEREEEHH -
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5. REVENUE 5 WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASHTEAT -
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Dividend income from unlisted equity securities JF /1 25 7 55 A% B 4 A = 471,680
Interest income from promissory notes AEHER 2T EWA - 528,110
Interest earned — bonds A E—EH - 1,657,808
Bank interest income RITH B M A 26,339 2,511
Income from profit guarantee (Note (i)) i FER A (BT EE () 100,000 300,000
Government grants (Note (i) BB (B =EGi) - 156,000
126,339 3,116,109
Notes: st -
(i) Income from profit guarantee relates to amounts received and receivable in (i) i MR 3 U e AR 15 48 8 175 5% P 8 69 s A1)
respect of a private equity investment in Hong Kong under the profit guarantee R IR E B TLE IRAEI B WO S eI
terms set out in the relevant agreement. FKRIH °
(i) Government grants from Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") (i) BWEREBRERTHE ([FBFE]) BFR
Government Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) have been received for FEFE (MR ZESE]) WBUT B - AL
retaining employees who may otherwise be made redundant. The related salary REBRAFRL R ENEE - BT B3 B
expenditure for which government grant intended to compensate has been fully R ER RS @M O BBURE - fiER
undertaken. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these ZEMBABENRER G RIAEIE -
grants.
6. NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 6. BAFEZEBERIKRZEH
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS EEBRFHE
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
tmEH ¥LEmEH #Et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12B31HIEFE
Net realised loss on financial assets BEATEBERERIEL
at fair value through profit or loss CREECERBIETE (12,420,587)  (46,703,164)  (59,123,751)
Net unrealised gain on financial assets at R AFEBBIEZIIEZ
fair value through profit or loss ERMEERZBRWEFE 9,226,750 14,531,816 23,758,566
Total of net realised and unrealised loss HABENEEBE R AER
included in profit or loss FIEBEATE (3,193,837)  (32,171,348)  (35,365,185)
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6. NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 6. RATFEHEZBERIEZEH
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued) EEEEFEE)
Listed
securities Unallocated Total
EWES KA it
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE2022F12A31HIEFE
Net realised loss on financial assets BRAFEBEBEZIEZ
at fair value through profit or loss CREECEEEBRTHE (10,983,513) (263,301)  (11,246,814)
Net unrealised loss on financial assets at fair RAF{EFBEZHIER 2
value through profit or loss SREEREEBIETE (8,830,035)  (18,964,746)  (27,794,781)
Total of net realised and unrealised loss SABRMNEEREKRER
included in profit or loss FEEAE (19,813,548)  (19,228,047)  (39,041,595)

The listed shares and unlisted investments are all classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Realised loss on disposals of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss amounted to HK$59,123,751 (2022: realised loss of
HK$11,246,814), representing the difference between the financial
assets’ initial carrying amount upon initial recognition (usually their
costs) and disposal consideration amount. Unrealised gain amounted
to HK$23,758,566 (2022: unrealised loss of HK$27,794,781),
comprising change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss for the Year and from reversal of the prior
years' unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which
were realised in the reporting period.

EmBRO R ETREADBRE DT
BEBERIIRSREE -

PERAFEERBHIEZCHMEE
H) B % 35 518 /59,123,751 7T (2022
FDRIREIE11,2468148L) * B
ZEBMEERVIBERENYIGREE
(BEANT BEHERESBECRANE
B o R IR U EE 523,758,566 78 7T (2022
F o RBIREIE27,794,781870) © B
AEERAFEEABRIEZS/ME
ENAFEZULBERANREHED
FRBTFESMTARERKERE

18 e
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BREAIEE
The Company’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging: RRAAZBRBAEBEBELHRATSIER
EH
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(@)  Finance costs B 7S AR AR
Interest on other borrowings HMmEERE 1,944 58,735
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 180,296 35,782
182,240 94,517
(b)  Other operating expenses Bl e
Staff cost (excluding directors’ BEIXACTBREESR
remuneration) <) 4,132,184 3,885,403
Investment management fee HEEEE 600,000 600,000
Foreign exchange loss, net SNERSTE - FRE = 527,028
Auditor’s remuneration =AD& 570,000 550,000
Minimum operating lease payments in BEAYE s HELEHE
respect of properties (S 80,916 75,600
Consultancy fees S E= 100,000 1,200,000
Legal and professional fees FERMRBEEATEA 2,813,134 3,350,212
Commission and other charges MekEMmER 97,467 260,425
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,462,791 371,709

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2023




Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. EEMS
Directors’ remuneration for the Year, disclosed pursuant to the BAx _ E AR A - FE R FEDI 2 383(1)
Listing Rules, Section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong @ O -OEkOHEEAE (FEEEST
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of HERDBROIE 2B T UBEBRE s ANFEE
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: EMeT
2023 2022
2023 2022 &
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Fees we 2,127,113 1,849,319
Bonus AWl = -
Contributions to pension schemes MR IR FHEIH R - -
2,127,113 1,849,319
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December HE2023F N A3IALEFESEEN
2023 as follows: MemT

Contributions

to pension
Name of Directors Fees schemes Total
Efe
BEEpng ok s B Bt
HK$ HK$ HKS
BT BT BT
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Gu Xu BBEE

(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (R2023F6 A 15 HEHAT) 164,000 - 164,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REELAE 528,000 - 528,000
692,000 - 692,000

Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Huang Bin A E 299,250 - 299,250
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson BERLE 178,500 - 178,500
Mr. Choi Koon Ming BEHALE 178,500 - 178,500

Mr. Wang Dingben FTREE
(Resigned on 8 December 2023) (2023412 A8 BEHE) - - -

Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard PEHrE
(Resigned on 3 January 2023) (202341 A3BEH) 629 = 629
Ms. Xiao Ruimei ERE 178,500 - 178,500
835,379 - 835,379
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEM<% (&)
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Contributions

to pension
Name of Directors Fees schemes Total
Bike
EEps ik TR st
HKS HK$ HKS
B B BT
Independent non-executive Directors B FHITES
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi AL E
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (74202346 A 15 BEHE) 53,300 - 53,300
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RIEREE
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) 202346 A 15 BEHE) 53,300 - 53,300
Mr. Sun Boquan BRzxk
(Resigned on 15 June 2023) (74202346 A 15 BEHE) 53,300 - 53,300
Mr. Tong Yun Lung EEREE 178,500 - 178,500
Mr. Sze Tak Chi EELE
(Appointed on 15 June 2023) (202346 A 15 AEZEE) 130,667 - 130,667
Mr. Sui Fuxiang BElEHEAE
(Appointed on 15 June 2023) 202346 A 15 BEZE) 130,667 - 130,667
599,734 - 599,734
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December

2022 as follows:

8. EEME (&)

HE202F1NANHLEFEZREEN

MEmT :

Contributions

to pension
Name of Directors Fees schemes Total
BiKe
EEpnE we TR EEt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Gu Xu BB E 360,000 - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee PRE&LE 528,000 - 528,000
888,000 - 888,000
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Huang Bin LA

(Appointed on 10 January 2022) (74202241 A 10 AEZ ) 114,169 - 114,169
Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson BREREE

(Appointed on 8 February 2022) (72202242 A8 HEZ L) 104,813 - 104,813
Mr. Choi Koon Ming 2% &

(Appointed on 8 February 2022) (74202252 A8 REZT) 104,813 - 104,813
Mr. Wang Dingben FTARESE - - -
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BB E 117,000 - 117,000
Ms. Xiao Ruimei ERE3

(Appointed on 8 July 2022) (FR2022F7 A8BEZT) 56,298 - 56,298

497,093 - 497,093
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

Directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HEIAE 117,000 = 117,000
Mr. Leung Wai Lim ZUERREE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Sun Boquan #Rz2%4E 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Lam King MED S

(Appointed on 13 January 2022 (74202291 B 13 BEZRT

and resigned on 18 July 2022) W 202247 A 18 HEHT) 60,073 = 60,073
Mr. Tong Yun Lung BEEESLAE

(Appointed on 18 July 2022) (R202257A18AEZ ) 53,153 - 53,153

464,226 - 464,226
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEM<% (&)

118

Fees paid to or for the executive directors are generally emoluments
in respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company. The non-executive and
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for other services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (EXCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

9.

ARTEEIMNNEE —RBEZFA
TEEARREBH R E A IR & B
T o EXFIRIFMITE S KB ILIFMIT
ESNHMEEESRKREER/ARAE
EMRENEAMR

FAMBEZTAZRSTHRABNELF
ERELAMES L -

E)E?Eﬂﬁﬁi (TREEEM

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Salaries, wages and allowances e TEKRZERL 3,869,312 3,624,545

Bonus TE4L 150,061 150,061
Retirement benefit expenses R RAE IR 2

— Defined contribution plan — ERBRET & 112,811 110,797

4,132,184 3,885,403

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance. Contributions to the
MPF scheme follow the MPF Schemes Ordinance.

Under the MPF scheme, each of the Company (the employer)
and its Hong Kong employees makes monthly contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, as
defined in the MPF Schemes Ordinance. Both the Company and
its employees’ monthly contributions are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 and contributions beyond these amounts are voluntary.
The contributions are fully and immediately vested upon payment.

As at 31 December 2023, there were no forfeited contributions
(2022: Nil).
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. ABRSHFMES
The five highest paid employees during the Year included one rEEhEGEayWEERTE —RES
director (2022: two directors), details of whose remunerations are (20224F - MBEE)  WEWFWNFES
set out in Note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the Year of A LS c WIHAQFEEKEE
the remaining four (2022: three) highest paid employees who are TIRABRERTIUE (2022F - =H) &
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: SEHWEENERFEHMEFBENT ¢
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, wages and allowances e TERER 3,491,532 2,987,124
Bonus TEAT 131,961 108,927
Retirement benefit expenses RIRBARAL
— Defined contribution plan —EFE M GTE 68,169 46,500
3,691,662 3,142,551
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid IEERIETETHAERSFHES
employees whose remuneration fall within the following bands is as HEMBATHENAZAT -
follows:
Number of individuals
AE
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
Nil to HK$1,000,000 251,000,000 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 87L&
1,500,000 7T 1 1
4 B
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11. FEES 11. EF

Administration fee

Amicorp Fund Services Asia Limited (the “Administrator”) is entitled
to receive an administration fee which is calculated based on the
net asset value of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of
0.11% per annum.

The administration fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee of
USD4,000 plus 7% disbursement charge for the period from
1 January 2023 to 31 January 2023 and USD4,100 plus 7.5%
disbursement charge from 1 February 2023 (30 June 2022:
USD4,000 plus 7% disbursement charge) and is payable monthly in
arrears.

The administration fee for the Year is HK$413,182 (2022:
HK$402,222). As at 31 December 2023, an administration fee of
HK$137,851 (2022: HK$66,817) was payable to the Administrator.

Custodian fee

Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Custodian”) is
entitled to a custodian fee which is calculated based on the net asset
value of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of 0.04%
per annum. The custodian fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee
of HK$12,500 and is payable monthly in arrears.

The custodian fee for the Year is HK$150,000 (2022: HK$150,138).
As at 31 December 2023, a custodian fee of HK$50,000 (2022:
HK$25,000) was payable to the Custodian.

Investment management fee

The Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management fee of
HK$50,000 (2022: HK$50,000) and payable monthly in advance.

The investment management fee for the Year is HK$600,000 (2022:
HK$600,000). As at 31 December 2023, the management fee of
HK$200,000 (2022: HK$50,000) was payable to the Investment
Manager.
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EBRADABRERBITHRERE  HIBE
HERRERARFTRHEREEFEZ
0.11% =5 -

M2023F1A1HZ=2023F1 A31HH
MEE2023F2 A1HE THEEER
DRIZE R HIKER4,000ETM7% X
HEX4,100FTTINT7.5% X HE (2022
F6H30H 4,000 T I7% = HE)
HREBRERAESN -

AFEETHEERE R 413,182 87T (2022
F :402,2227878) ° 72023412 A 31
H THREE2A137,8518 T (2022
% :66,817BT) ENTITHERA -

AER

LBIRTEFRBRAR(FEEAD 5
WEFEEE  HREBEESRIZFEART
WNEEREEFEZ0.04%8E - 7EE
BEAR S ARKEER12,5008TTHRK
AREA AR -

REFAEE A 150,000 7T (2022 F -
150,138/ 7T) ° 20234 12 A318 -
& & /50,000% 7T (2022 4 : 25,000
BIC) B FREEA -

REEEE

wEEE A BEKEE AEEE 50,000
7871 (20224 : 50,0008 7T) R ERE A
AT AT »

REEREERE /600,000 (2022
% :600,00087T) c 2023412 A
3N ENTREEEBANEREEAR
200,0007% 7T (2022 4 : 50,0008 7T) °
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12. TAXATION 12. B8
The major components of income tax charge for the years ended 31 HE2023F K2022F 12 A31BIEFE
December 2023 and 2022 are: Fr8FiAS EBIMHAE
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current tax: BIHEATR 1A -

Hong Kong Profits tax HEFEH = -
Deferred tax JRIERIE - -
Tax charge for the year FEBIERX - -
A reconciliation of the tax expenses applicable to loss before tax FRAEEBE ZBRBATEETEA 25
using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is HERYERERMEGE 2 BIAMTH
as follows: BROAE -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$ HK$

BT BIT

Loss before tax BRI AR (52,436,843) (52,745,075)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% R TERME165% T ERF1E (8,652,079) (8,702,937)

Income not subject to tax EBEWT 2 WA (3,797,145) (77,827)

Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 287,930 906,980

Tax losses not recognised RERTIBE 1B 12,161,294 7,873,784
Tax charge at the effective rate of 16.5% REBHE16.5% 5 E 0

RIAM X - -
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12. TAXATION (Continued) 12. BiE (&)

122

Cayman Islands

Under the current Cayman Islands law, there is no income tax,
corporation tax, capital gains tax or any other kinds of tax on
profits or gains or tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax
currently in effect.

Effective from the date of incorporation of the Company, and for
a period of twenty years, no law that is hereafter enacted in the
Cayman Islands imposing any tax on income will be levied on the
Company.

Hong Kong

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of the Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the Company will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
financial statements as the Company did not generate any assessable
profit for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

At the end of reporting period, the Company has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$660,540,796 (2022: approximately
HK$586,835,984) available for offset against future profits that
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.
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#392,000,000 7% 7T A 35 Fll 2 B o

B A ZR A RIE = 20234 K% 2022412 A
3THIEFES EEE T MERFEF
WA BRI SRR TR B TS BB -

RBEHR ARABRSARIEES
1B #1660,540,796 7% 7T (2022 F : 4
586,835,984 /8 7T.) A A 7A K 84 AT 4% R A
BERRICEF] o BRI & FROHT
AJTERIME - W TR IEE B RERIEER
BEE -



Notes to Financial Statements

BTSSR o

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

13.

14.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of basic per share amount is based on the Company’s
loss of HK$52,436,843 (2022: loss of HK$52,745,075) for the Year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the Year
of 1,319,700,274 (2022: 1,254,220,419 ordinary shares).

No diluted earnings per share for both 2023 and 2022 were
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for
both 2023 and 2022.

LEASES

The Company as a lessee

The Company has a lease contract for office premises used in
its operations. Lease of office premises has lease term of 3 years
(2022: 3 years). Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Company. The lease
contract includes extension or termination options which are not
considered to be exercisable by the Company.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the Year are as follows:

13.

14.

AAREBEESRAARGE
BER

ERERCEANERARAR LT REZFE
AN AR FE AR QA E 152,436,843
T (20224 : 18 52,745,075 %8
) RAFEEETEBRMNET
¥ $01,319,700,2740% (2022 4 :
1,254,220,419 % L @A%) st B 5 -

AR 2023 F % 2022 F AT E B 1T/BE LR
% o B 7 2023 4F N2 2022 - W E 2 5]
FREERF -

HE

AN TEEEBEA

ARG EELHFERNPAYWETE
HMEAH -PAYMERENHBA=F
(2022F : =F) - —f&M s * AAFT
AEARAFTAIIATEHZER HDHBAEE
E-HEANEABTEHNRIIEERE
A BIRIERIER AT BARRTTE -
(a) EHAELE

RARFEREEERMBERFAZ
g -

Office premises

WA

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4

HK$ HK$

BT BT

As at 1 January Bm1A1AE 518,327 890,036
Additions NE 2,364,011 o
Depreciation charge ERX (1,462,791) (371,709)
As at 31 December W12 A31H 1,419,547 518,327
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14. LEASES (Continued)

The Company as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements

14. HE (&)
ADFMEREBA ()

(b)) HEERE

RAFERNEEREREENRED

during the Year are as follows: wm
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1ATHEEE 536,983 924,560
New leases MHEE 2,364,011 -
Paid and Payable B KRR FRIE (1,443,064) (387,577)
1,457,930 536,983

Analysed into: DA

Current portion mEnE 1,260,032 406,525
Non-current portion ERBE D 197,898 130,458
1,457,930 536,983

(©)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

are as follow:

(0 MNESEIFBREENSHEMT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE 180,296 35,782
Depreciation charge of right-of-use TRREENERX
assets 1,462,791 371,709
Lease payments not included in the Kt AHEBEHED
measurements of lease liabilities ER=ENEN 80,916 75,600
Total amount recognised in I FER ) 4258
profit or loss 1,724,003 483,091

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to
lease liabilities was 8.59% (2022: 4.89%).
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15. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 15. € - ANREAREBERK
RECEIVABLES AND AMOUNT DUE FROM 15 DU FE W AR 42 A I8
BROKERS

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current: FEE
Deposits ®’e 200,000 126,740
Current: ey
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTFRIE ~ e Rk
receivables (Note) Hopth fE Y 5k IE (B RE) 1,623,057 4,483,150
Amount due from brokers A S RYN S 8,350,713 10,003
9,973,770 4,493,153
Note: As at 31 December 2023, the prepayments and other receivables mainly BiaE : 72023612 A31 8 - FER 5RIE R H Ab FEUK
comprised the payment in advance of professional fee and deposits amounting HEFERRBENZZEALEARESH 7
to HK$670,000 and HK$ 126,740 respectively. #3670,0007% 7T & 126,740 B 7T,
As at 31 December 2022, the prepayments and other receivables mainly M2022512 A31H - B FRIE K& H fih fE
comprised interest receivables and the payment in advance of professional fee KRBT ZRREREKFBRENEEAL
and office expenses amounting to HK$2,566,000 and HK$931,000 respectively. BRRBFAEFREZSD H72,566,000% T K&
931,000/8 7T °
As at the end of the reporting period, none of the above receivables AR BASR - b il Uy 3k I8 3 4 fa B ok,
is either past due or impaired. AE ©
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16. B A FEFEBRIERSIEZ2EH

126

PROFIT OR LOSS

BE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Listed equity securities — Hong Kong ITTEEESF B 3,768,200 12,261,190
Investments in private equity — "ERFLERE—

British Virgin Islands KBRS 9,724,000 15,968,000
Investments in private equity — Hong Kong KERILEBRE-—FB 25,705,000 41,448,000
Investments in bond "ENES = 11,000,000
Investments in fund — Hong Kong KERES B 27,143,264 35,761,588

66,340,464 116,438,778

The fair values of the listed equity securities are determined based
on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges at the end of the reporting period.

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted in an
active market. The fair values of the private equities at 31 December
2023 and 2022 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out as at that date by independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Company. The valuation of the
investments in these private entities used valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flow projections and adjusted net assets
value methods, and are within Level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The
most significant unobservable inputs in the valuation methodologies
included the discount rate on the investment and forecasted future
cash flows.
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the financial assets also included
investments in two unlisted funds, which are measured at fair
value and was categorised as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The
information of two newly invested unlisted funds as follows:

Goldstone 1 LPF (“Goldstone 1), formerly Gransing 1 LPF, is a
limited partnership fund. Goldstone 1 seeks to achieve maximum
capital appreciation over the life of the Limited Partnership Fund
through equity investments, specifically, investments in IPOs
on securities to be listed on the Stock Exchange and in private
placements by companies listed on the Stock Exchange. On 12
December 2022, the Company disposed the listed equities of
approximately HK$11,748,358. The consideration was satisfied by
the subscription of sharing equity interest in the Goldstone 1. Upon
the completion of disposal, the Company classified the proceeds
received as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The fair value of the investment in Goldstone 1 is based on net
asset value. As at 31 December 2023, the investment portfolio of
Goldstone 1 were entities listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong.

SWK Dynamic OFC ("SWK") is private open-ended fund
company with variable capital and long-biased focusing on Hong
Kong and China equity market. The fair value of the investment
in SWK is based on the net asset value. As at 31 December 2023,
the investment portfolio of SWK were entities listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong.

Net unrealised gain on financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss of HK$23,758,566 (2022: loss of HK$27,794,781) has been
recognised in profit or loss.

The Company does not own or control more than 20% of the voting
rights in any one of these listed and unlisted equity investments. In
the opinion of the directors, the Company is not able to exercise
any significant influence on the financial and operating policies of
these investee companies, and all of these listed and unlisted equity
investments are not regarded as associates of the Company and are
accounted for as financial assets through profit or loss for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

. ERBRRSIRZ S8

MR2023F12A31H @@ EENBE
RREFELFMESHEE  HEATE
SHEYSHEARATESHEZE_HPNR -
FIENMEFLMESHERNT :

cA—FERAGEES (&A% A
WK —SEERAEES) A—EBRE
BES A VEEEBRERE
BRRIEERBREBZT EMHESSN
BERAAREERBIMEMARNILE
i RERAGBESHEETFTESN
BEIRZAMERIEE - 2022F12 812
B AAEHE EmR#EL 11,748,358
B REDURBESA R4 H
ST - RHEEHETKE  AAF
BRI ERIBES B AEAFERA
BalEmEE-

Ren —RIRENRAFENERNEEZF
B8 -7 2023F 12 A31H0 & A5
RIREHEEBEBABIMLETHER -

SWK Dynamic OFC ([ SWK ) &FL 5 5 i
ANESQF HEAEERARRBIEE -
EERBEBRFEKRETS - B SWK
WEMRAFEDRBEEEFENE - R
202312 A31H - SWKHEREHAAE A
REBHZM EMIELE -

BEATESBREREZEMEENE
B IR I 55 SF 58 /8 23,758,566 7 7T (2022
B8 27,794,781 78 70) DINMBRER o

Wi/ I 37 = e i 1 ] = W
N IE LT AREIR B B3R 20% RIRKE ©
FERE ARFREHZEHRERER
AN BEREERREEETMNEAZE
71 B A E £ 2023F K 2022F12 A
B1TELEFE  2H%ELMEIELETR
BEER TR ABARRRINEE AR
WARIIEBBEREZ SMEE -
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15
BY THE COMPANY

Particulars of investments held by the Company at 31 December 2023F 128318 ARRIBRE L™
2023 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as RAENEFREEMBERENGTEN
follows: N

Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/

Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
LN REEE
BRARE E&E/ B/ AT
FREATEH ABHE AAERLA 28 Wl (BfE)#E EURE #EEEAM
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TAL TEn TEn
Finandial assets at fair vallee through
profit or loss
ZATEFEREIE L EBEE
Listed equity securities -
Hong Kong
LhgREs-58
Tasty Concepts Holding Limited ~ Tasty Concepts Holding Limited (" Tasty") is 343% 1320 1,848 (660) - 194

an investment holding company mainly
engaged in the operation of Japanese
ramen restaurants. For the six months
ended 30 September 2023, the unaudited
loss attributable to shareholders of Tasty
was approximately HK$3,754,000 and
the unaudited net liabilities attributable to
shareholders of Tasty as at 30 September
2023 was approximately HK$1,916,000.

BIRERERAT EZRBRERAA (B %) A-FR
BARLA FEREASNARNE
2 HENBFIANALAER
B RBRREENAEERERN B
3,754 00087 -8 2 RERR 20035
9A0AZEEREERARSEN
1,916,000/ 7T °
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
AR REEE
RRfRE ElgE/ BR/  HEDR
FREARER BRE ARERLA B [ (BR)FE EYkE SEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Finandial assets at fair vallee through
profit or loss (Continueq)
FATEERERIEL 2RAE
(%)
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited ~ Hanvey Group Holdings Limited (“Hanvey") 140% 627 739 520 - 0.78

is an investment holding company
principally engaged in the design and
development, manufacturing and
distribution of watch products. For
the six months ended 30 June 2023,
the unaudited profit attributable to
shareholders of Hanvey was approximately
HK$1,318,000 and the unaudited net
assets attributable to shareholders
of Hanvey as at 30 June 2023 was
approximately HK$37,108,000.
EREEERARLA EESBLRERAR(EE)B-FR
BRRLE FENSHEHEAY &
ERDHTHRER - HENBF6A0
AILAER  ERRREEHKEEY
wHI651,318 0008 - MERRRR
N356ANELEEAEENAER
[E4537,108000%7 °
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
AR REEE
RRfRE ElgE/ BR/  HEDR
FREAALR RBRE AAERLA B [ (BR)FE EYkE SEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Finandial assets at fair valle through
profit or loss (Continueq)
FATEERERIEL 2RAE
(%)
Lerado Financial Group Company  Lerado Financial Group Company Limited 1.35% 7719 657 8,980 - 0.69
Limited (“Lerado”) is an investment holding

company principally engaged in
manufacturing and trading of medical
products and plastic toys business. For
the six months ended 30 June 2023,
the unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of Lerado was approximately
HK$20,338,000 and the unaudited
net assets attributable to shareholders
of Lerado as at 30 June 2023 was
approximately HK$665,152,000.
EXERERARLA ﬁ%ﬁii\mﬁ’ﬁ]‘ﬁﬁ m ([ ) %R
ERRAR TEUHSREREEER
Euu&%brfi%ﬁ (HEABF6A
NALEAER BREREEHAEE
BERNA20338,000%7  TIEAR
FRNBF6ANBIEEFEELE
E5{E415665,152,000 87 °
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
AR REEE
RRfRE ElgE/ BR/  HEDR
FREARER BRE ARERLA B [} (BR)FE EYkE SEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Finandial assets at fair vallee through
profit or loss (Continueq)
FATEERERIEL 2RAE
(%)
China New Consumption Group  China New Consumption Group Limited 0.67% 505 524 700 - 0.5
Limited ("China New Consumption”)is an

investment holding company principally
engaged in foundation contractor
primariy specialising in bored piing
works as well as other foundation works.
For the six months ended 30 September
2023, the unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of China New Consumption
was approximately HK$1,312,000 and
the unaudited net assets attributable to
shareholders of China New Consumption
a at 30 September 2023 was
approximately HK$ 104,835,000
hEHEEERRAR hEHMAERERRAR ((PEMHE])
RFREBRLA T RUENENE
TRNREMSEIRATHBEAR
25 BZ0BFIANBLAER
hEHERRE RN ASENERY
R1312,000%7 MFEMEERRR
NBFIANELEEREENEER
451048350007
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
AR REEE
RRfRE ElgE/ BE/  f523
FREAALR RBRE AAERLA B [ (BfE)#E EYkE SEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL TR ThL TR
Private equity security -
British Virgin Islands
AERERS-ARELHS
Gransing Financial Group Limited  Provision of quality brokerage, corporate 18.08% 46,371 9,724 20,900 - 10.21
finance, asset management and financial
adviser services to institutional and
individual investors in Hong Kong and
main land China through its subsidiaries
BREBERARLA RERRPERLEBENE
AAmERRILAREARHEE LR
PERE  AEERRABERRS
Private equity securities -
Hong Kong
AERERS-FH
iPro Financial Press Limited Engaged in financial printing services 19.97% 34999 17,602 25,600 - 18.48
BEFEHRARAR EEEET IR
Gransing Finance Limited Engaged in money lending business in 19.90% 16,876 8,103 12,900 - 851
Hong Kong
AREEERAR RERUSEERK
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Dividend
Net asset received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investees Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of fund capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
REEE
BRFRRE RARELR Bh/EK L
FREAREH EoH#E ARERLA S [} BERE ke HBEEEAM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Goldstone 1 LPF Limited partnership fund 59.32% 23,748 16,858 16,860 - 17.70
eh-NERaEER ERe%ES
SWK Dynamic OFC Open-ended fund 1221% 12,163 10,285 10,280 - 10.80
R ER
Particulars of investments held by the Company at 31 December 72022128318 ARARIRE LW
2022 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as RABNEREEMBERENTEN
follows: T
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
AAREL REEE
BRFRE gE/(88) Bh/ AR
FREAREH SBME ARERLH S i BE EHRE #EEEAYM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TEL TEL
Financial assets at fair vale
through profit or loss
HATEFERHAR P REE
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
LhgERS-8%
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited Engaged in the design and 19.45% 19,113 10,272 7,660 = 6.88
development, manufacturing
and distribution of watch
products
EREEARARAT RERRFR  HER
HEFRER
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investees Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
FAREE REEE
RRfRE gE/(88) Bk/  HELT
FRENALR RHHE AREALA B [ B EYkE SEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TR Thr Tir
Finanaial assets at fair valle though
profit or loss (Continueq)
EATEFERENE 2REE(8)
Orient Securities International Holdings Engaged in the provision of 4.99% 145 1,646 18,980 - 1.10
Limited brokerage service, underwriting
and placing service, margin
financing service and money
lending service
RAEHESARERARAT FEREALRE 2HR
RERE  ARAZRHR
HERB
Jiading International Group Holdings Limited  Engaged in advertising business 0.17% 381 344 100 - 023
FREREEERARLA EREEH
Private equity security -
British Virgin Islands
AERERS-ARELHS
Gransing Financial Group Limited Provision of quality brokerage, 18.08% 46,3771 15,968 26,090 - 10.69
corporate finance, asset
management and financial

adviser services to institutional
and individual investors in Hong
Kong and main land China
through its subsidliaries
BREBERARLA RERRREAMGEBENE
ARmEERLAREE R
FELL MXRE EE
ERLABERRS
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD

17. XA RFFHEZETEREZHE

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
FAREE REEE
RRfRE gE/(88) Bk/  HELT
FRENRER RHHE AREALA B [ B EYkE SEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TR Thr Tir
Finanaial assets at fair valle though
profit or loss (Continueq)
EATEFERENE 2 REE(8)
Private equity securities - Hong Kong
AERERS-FH
iPro Financial Press Limited Engaged in financial printing 19.97% 34999 26,793 2120 - 17.93
services
ESERERAT EHEERIRE
Gransing Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 19.90% 16,876 14,655 18,580 - 981
business in Hong Kong
AREERRAR REERERERE
Help U Credit Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 19.95% 19,000 - 12,640 - -
business in Hong Kong
EARBERAR REBRERERE
Unlisted Bond - The Cayman Island
FLTRE-HERS
Oriental Payment Group Holdings Limited ~ Engaged in merchant acquiring 10,500 11,000 10 31 July 2022 1,658 7.36

RIXNEBERERAT

business
REBPRESR

00257A318

BT

REABRAR / F# 2023
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD

17. XA RFFAZETEREZHE

18.

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
Dividend
Net asset received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of fund capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
REEE
KEfRE RARELR B/ EY L
FriRELNR2R EoH#E ARERLH S il BEFE RE BEEEAM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T T T
Goldstone 1 LPF Limited partnership fund 81.28% 23,748 22,151 22,150 - 14.83
eR-NERaEER ERe%ES
SWK Dynamic OFC Open-ended fund 7.58% 13,300 13,610 13,610 - 9N
) 8%
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18. RERBEETEE
2023 2022
2023 2022 &
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Cash at banks RTR® 17,309,428 27,830,332

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rates. Details of impairment assessment of bank balances is

set out in Note 28.

19.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the other payables and accruals
were non-interest-bearing and had an average term of less than

twelve months.
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20. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED PARTY

21.

As at 31 December 2023, the amount due to a related party
represented accrued lease payables. The amount was non-interest-
bearing and repayment on demand.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s Share Option Scheme was adopted on 1 June
2015, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 28 May 2015.

The limit of the number of securities which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must not
exceed 30% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in
issue from time to time.

Details of the share options granted by the Company under the
Share Option Scheme to the employees of the Company and the
movement in such holdings during the Year were as follows:

20. E{SEAEE 5 KA

21.

MR2023F 12 A31 8 « FERT BB 7 3008
EETHERNRE Z2BAEERER
BESREE -

8 A 3 2

BIENR2015F5 A28 HER1T 2 IRELE R
AE BBz ERRER  AQAERK
ST R 201546 A 1 BB -

RIREE AR T 8 R ] K Ath BB AR 5T 2
REEEFITEZHARITEEREES
HITHEEGTRTCESFHBERSE -~
SEBAAR AT B EITIHBERES
230% °

ARBAFERBERESEAARQF

R BRI BRE 22D
HEmT

Number of share options

BREYE
Adjusted Closing price
during the Outstanding of the listed
period asat securities
Outstanding upon Cancelled/ 31 December Cancelled/ Outstanding before
Name or asat  effetive  Granted  Exercised lapsed  2022and  Granted  Exercised lapsed asat the date of
category of Date of Exercise Exercise 1 January of the during during during 1 January during during during 31 December % of options
participant grant period price* 2022 rightsissue  the year theyear  the year 023 theyear  theyear the Year 2023 issued share granted
RunE
1ANER Ligs
RunE  AEER pIEES RUBE RERE
SHEAER 1A18  H#RERE REE 1A18 AEE NANE BREORA RuAHA
EH RHAH &8 e HRTE BE REERE AREGE RM/AN BATE AEERY AEEGE BE/AN MAGE BAL  WEHE
Employees 1972019 19/712019-18/7/2029 0.2759* 7421446 608,880 - - 8,030,326 - (4,015,163 4,015,163 0304 0.082
8 WI9FTA198  019F7A19BF
2029%7A188
Employee 2452021 24/52021-23/52024 0.2126* 7,201,790 590,858 - - 7,792,648¢ - (7,792,648) - - 0228
8 21558248 01 55RUBE
UFSABH
1462323 1,199,738 - - 15,822,974 - (11.807811) 4015163 0304
Weighted average exercise price (HKS) 0.2447 02447 0.2447 - 0.2341 02759
ETHHERE )
* The exercise price and the amount of the share options had been adjusted due & ERENTEERSHEEAR2022F6 A%

to the rights issue completed in June 2022.

B R RS 1 ) AR
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21. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 21. IBRAESTE(E)

138

The fair value of 8,030,326 share options (as adjusted) granted
during the year ended 31 December 2019 under the Share Option
Scheme on 19 July 2019 was determined to be approximately
HK$1,117,000 with reference to a valuation performed by an
independent firm of professional valuer using a binomial model.

The inputs into the model included grant date adjusted share price
of HK$0.2595, expected volatility of 65.51% determined based
on historical volatility of the Company’s shares for the past 510
weeks, expected option life of ten years, no expected dividend and
estimated risk-free interest rate of 1.41%.

The fair value of 38,963,240 share options (as adjusted) granted
during the year ended 31 December 2021 under the Share Option
Scheme on 24 May 2021 and 30 August 2021 were determined
to be approximately HK$660,000 and HK$2,233,000 respectively
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent firm of
professional valuer using a binomial model.

The inputs into the model included grant date adjusted share price
of HK$0.2126 and HK$0.1719 respectively, expected volatility of
71.91% and 71.70% determined based on historical volatility of the
Company’s shares for the past 156 weeks, expected option life of
three years, no expected dividend and estimated risk-free interest
rate of 0.26% and 0.31% respectively.

At 31 December 2023, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under
the Share Option Scheme was 4,015,163 (2022: 15,822,974),
representing 3.56% (2022: 1.20%) of the shares of the Company in
issue at that date.
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F5A24H 202148 A30 HIREER
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HEMEAZEARXETHEEET
A5 h#1660,000 % 7T 1 2,233,000 AT

ZEANGARBERERAELBH®
KABKREESR A /021268 7T
01719 L - EHEIE71.91% &
71.70% (T3 R IBE AR R Bl IR0 R 3B 1E 156
RAESIRRMET) - T8 AR IS 5
3 - WREFBHAMR S RAFHERRFE D
R A0.26% 5% 0.31% °
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL 22. EBRITRAE
Number of Nominal
shares amount
RO EE H{E
HK$
BT
Authorised ETE
Ordinary Shares of nominal amount 2023 F 2022912 A31H
HK$0.04 each at 31 December 2023 BRE{EC.04E T EiBAX
and 2022 25,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
Ordinary shares of nominal amount 2023 F 2022412 A31H
HK$0.04 each at 31 December 2023 BIRMAEE0.048 T2 BEEMAK
and 2022 1,319,700,274 52,788,011
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RATIRAEB LT -
follows:
Number Share
of shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
2R BB R
Bk R RfE R @zt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 864,214,887 34,568,595 192,058,831 226,627,426
Rights issue (Note) AR (PR EE) 432,107,443 17,284,298 60,495,042 77,779,340
Share issue expenses RN BEITRAZ - - (514,131) (514,131)
Share option exercised BiTibRERE 23,377,944 935,118 4,758,301 5,693,419
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and ~ 722022F 124318 »
31 December 2023 20311 R
2023F 12 A31H 1,319,700,274 52,788,011 256,798,043 309,586,054
Note: On 25 February 2022, the Company raised approximately HK$77,265,209, MizE: W2022F2A25H AR AlE&&E D
net of related issue expenses of HK$514,131 by way of the rights issue of 77,265,209 7T (F0BRABREZ 1 THI 2 514,131
432,107,443 rights shares on the basis of one rights share for every two shares BIL) - AR RUAERAR0.18 7 T R R
at the subscription price of HK$0.18 per share. The net proceeds of the placing BREFEMBRROEE —REKRKRD2E
shares, after deduction of the costs of the Company, were subsequently applied AR 432,107,443 IRELARAR 1 - BLE AR HY
for the investment in line with its ordinary course of business and pursuant to the F{S 58358 (NBR A A R K AR BEER
investment objectives of the Company and for the general working capital of the BAARKREBERARMEEBTEE%KRE
Company to meet the running expenses of the Company such as rental and staff ZRE  BARARA—REEE ARG
costs. ARz EBRAS (MHEEREIKA) °
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23.

24,

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the net assets
of the Company as at 31 December 2023 of HK$89,837,953 (2022:
HK$142,274,796) and on 1,319,700,274 ordinary shares being
in issue as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 1,319,700,274 ordinary
shares).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

In addition to the related party transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Company had the following
transactions with related parties during the Year:

Investment Manager — Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited

The Investment Manager is responsible to manage, supervise and
direct the investment, disposition and re-investment of the assets of
the Company, on a discretionary basis, but subject to the investment
objective and restrictions of the Company. The Investment Manager
is entitled to receive management fees for its respective services in
terms of the agreement dated 30 November 2020. Details of the
fees to which the Investment Manager is entitled are provided in
Note 11 to the financial statements. The Directors consider the key
management personnel of the Company comprise of its Board of
Directors, whose remuneration is shown in Note 8 to the financial
statements.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 25. REFEsEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EeBRITARNHREHRZREER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N
2023 2023 F
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAVE R
EBRBHIE AR B BR 2
ZEREE ETREE mst
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

Financial assets measured at amortised ~ JA#E 855K 2N 5t 2 19

cost: CHEE:

— Financial assets included in deposits ~ —sT A& KIS RIS E - 326,740 326,740
- Amount due from brokers —EM R AFRIE - 8,350,713 8,350,713
— Cash and cash equivalents -RekReSE - 17,309,428 17,309,428

Financial assets at fair value through R AFEBEBERIIEZ

profit or loss: CRIEE
— Financial assets at fair value —-BRATESRERYE
through profit or loss JEREE 66,340,464 - 66,340,464
66,340,464 25,986,881 92,327,345
Financial liabilities sREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
28 68 R A T R
ZEEaE
HKS$
BT
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: E#ER AT ENSRMEE
— Other payables and accruals —HE BT RIBE R IESE A 2,847,326
— Amount due to a related party — 1~ B BSE 75 RIR 1,100,000
3,947,326
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 25 ZEREsEMIA (&)
(Continued)
2022 2022 F
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAYE R
FiBERYIE BASIBR 2
LEREE CREE BEr
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

Financial assets measured at amortised LAk 5K AN 51 2 7

cost: TREE:
— Financial assets included in deposits ~ —&T AR & 0 & RVEE - 126,740 126,740
— Other receivables — H fth JE U FRIE - 2,566,027 2,566,027
— Amount due from brokers — R 48 AFOR - 10,003 10,003
— Cash and cash equivalents -BekBReEE - 27,830,332 27,830,332
Financial assets at fair value through AT EBBERIIE L
profit or loss: TREE:
— Financial assets at fair value —-BATEERERIIE
through profit or loss ZEREAE 116,438,778 - 116,438,778
116,438,778 30,533,102 146,971,880
Financial liabilities Ea: =R
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
1B SR AN BR
ZEEaE
HK$
BIT

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: E#ER AT ENESMEE
— Other payables and accruals —HENRIE KR EE A 6,595,551
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 26. A¥{EFE
(a) Fair value hierarchy (a) AFEZSH
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining RRARRANTEREERERES
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: BT EH A FE

31 December 2023
2023128318

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
5% Fo® =4 st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value through Z AT EBBBRSIKZ
profit or loss: PREE:
Listed i}
— Equity securities —RRES 3,768,200 - - 3,768,200
Unlisted FLm
— Private equities -fLERE - - 35,429,000 35,429,000
- Funds -E% - 27,143,264 - 27,143,264

3,768,200 27,143,264 35,429,000 66,340,464

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ EF-/ E=R @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value through ZAFEBEBEBRSIKZ
profit or loss: SHMEE -
Listed rm
- Equity securities —ERES 12,261,190 - = 12,261,190
Unlisted JEE™m
~ Private equities -fLEkE - - 57,416,000 57,416,000
- Bond &% 11,000,000 - - 11,000,000
- Funds -£% - 35,761,588 - 35,761,588

23,261,190 35,761,588 57,416,000 116,438,778
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

When fair values of listed and quoted investments at the
reporting date are based on quoted market prices in active
market, without any deduction for transaction costs, the
instruments are within Level 1 of the hierarchy.

When fair values of equity securities at the reporting date
represent quoted prices in market that are considered less
than active or consensus prices derived by third parties using
valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly observable from market data, those equity securities
are included within Level 2 of the hierarchy.

For all other financial instruments, the Company determines
fair value using valuation techniques.

Valuations are the responsibility of the Board of Directors of
the Company. The valuation of investments in the suspended
listed equity securities, the private equity securities are
performed by management of the Company and reviewed by
the investment committee of the Company. The investment
committee considers the appropriateness of the valuation
method and inputs, and may request alternative valuation
methods applied to support the valuation arising from
the method chosen. Any changes in valuation methods
are discussed and agreed with the Company’s Board of
Directors.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Company invested in unlisted funds. The fair value of the
unlisted funds are based on the net asset value with reference
to the prices of underlying investment portfolio quoted by fund
administrator. The investment portfolios of the fund are based
on the quoted closing price in active market of listed equity
securities, and are within Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted
in an active market. The fair value of the private equities as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 have been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out as at that date by independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the Company
and estimated by the management. The valuation of the
investments in these private entities used discounted cash
flows (“DCF") projections under income approach based on
estimates made by management of the Company or adjusted
net assets value (“Adjusted NAV") method under cost
approach as appropriate and are within Level 3 of fair value
hierarchy.

The Company invested in unlisted bond which are not quoted
in an active market.

A DCF analysis involves forecasting the appropriate future cash
flow streams over an appropriate period and then discounting
it back to a present value at an appropriate discount rate.
This discount rate should consider the time value of money,
inflation, and the risk inherent in ownership of the asset or
security interest being valued.

The Adjusted NAV method calls for a summation of the fair
values of all assets belonging to an entity and a reduction of
that aggregate by the fair values of that entity’s total liabilities.
The fair value is represented by the adjusted book value of
total assets net of liabilities owed to any person other than the
beneficial owners of the subject company, after adjusting for
any necessary discounts or premiums to the book values of the
assets and liabilities to reflect their market values.

26. A ¥{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

RATFIRENLERELERIRE
PRE TS L EEmE - R 2023F &
202212 A31H  ALERENA
R EDEE- Y-V N3 ) e o
VAEBREEGEMRZAELD
HEESEEENMFFESH -
RZELE BB ZIRETREBER
RAREREMEMET 2 WA
BEBEReR ([BRIReR]) 8
BISIBIER A ERAAREEFE
([FAREEFE]) 7= (e#E) #
THEE TNRAFESRZE=
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R B TH 5 P X AR o

BRI EROMNH K b RE & HIfE
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 26. AR EFE (&)
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(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWA BN EEEFR —
inputs — Level 3 F=8R

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input fair value
TEFRTEE TABEZHAEH
R AVE HERM BAE WAEEE ATEZBE
HKS$'000
TER
As at 31 December 2023
R2023512A318
Unlisted equity securities 27,327 Discounted cash Discount rate for 12.92%  Higher the discount
flows discounting rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
FLmERES BERRATR BREHARERE 1292% HHREHE 2TFE
ZHR= B
Discount rate 15.70% to  Higher the discount
for lack of 30% rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value
PR iked=0 15.70% %  RATEREILR
LIRS 30%  BEXYE AVE
MR
Unlisted equity securities 8,102 Adjusted netassets  Discount rate 15.70%  Higher the discount
value method for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability lower
the fair value, and
vice versa
FLMERES AREERENE BROMERBELN 1570% BRATERBILN
BB % BRZHE  NTE
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 26. XV {EFTE (&)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable EATHBEFEBAENEEZTH -
inputs - Level 3 (Continued) FE=4 (&)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input fair value
FEFTEE TABERAESR
A AYE HEREN WAE WAEEE ATEZBE
HKS$'000
TER
As at 31 December 2022
R2022512A318
Unlisted equity securities 42,761  Discounted cash Discount rate for 13.96% to  Higher the discount
flows discounting 18.49% rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
MR ES BRETR ERMARERE 13.96% % HEEX#S ATFE
ZERE 1849% MK
Discount rate 15% t030%  Higher the discount
for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value
i SPAITR N ikid=0 15%%30% BRATEREIERN
LIRS BREYE 2FE
B
Unlisted equity securities 14,655  Adjusted net assets  Discount rate 11.40%  Higher the discount
value method for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability lower
the fair value, and
vice versa
FEmHERES ABBEFERE HOTEREMLE 11.40% BRATHRALL
B % BREMS  ATE
B - R TR
BT EIRE AR AR / 3R 2023 147
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 26. AV{EETE (8)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWA BN EEEFR —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)
The fair value measurements of the investments in private ERE EEEEs FTHERE
equities, suspended listed equity securities, promissory FAAEBRETESFREZA
notes and listed bond are recognised as Level 3 fair value FEFEERABE =R TETE -
measurements.
The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during XEEE=RLAFEF=ZSHN
the Year are as follows: K
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January Bm1A1A 57,416,000 78,842,083
Purchases BE - 36,875,196
Sell HE - (21,860,000)
Settlement C - (7,500,000)
Transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 RE="DEBRZFE—R - (10,488,782)
Total loss recognised in profit and loss A8 %5 N iR 2 BB 4A (21,987,000) (18,452,497)
At 31 December 128318 35,429,000 57,416,000
For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the total RIERAFEERERVEZC/RE
gains or losses recognised, including those for assets held at EmME DRz BakEEesE
the end of reporting period, are presented in profit or loss (BRERAREPRMBZEEEL
in “net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or WarskE518) T BN 25 & 12
loss”. ATEEBERIR eREER

BFE] -

148 China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2023



Notes to Financial Statements

BTSSR o
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Quantitative information of significant unobservable
inputs — Level 3 (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, these were no
transfer of fair value measurement between Level 1 and Level
2 and a transfer of HK$10,488,782 out of Level 3 fair value
measurement.

During the Year, these were no transfer of fair value
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into
or out of Level 3 fair value measurement.

The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

27. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the Year, the Company have additions to right-of- use
asset HK$2,364,011 and lease liabilities HK$2,364,011. in
respect of lease arrangements for office premises (2022: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
disposed the promissory notes with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$20,743,794. The consideration was
satisfied by the subscription of 19.9% and 4.73% of sharing
equity interest of GFL and GFPL respectively. Upon the
completion of disposal, the Company classified the proceeds
received as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

26. A ¥{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

EATTBFEHAENEEER -
FE=R(E)

HE2022F12A31HIEFE - F
—PEE_LRAFEFECHEL
wmEE BE-MAFEFEET
10,488,782 JT °

RAFE  F—REFE_HFRFE
AEZEYEERE AE=RQF
BEfEVEEANEL -

RAA)R2023F 2022912 A
31 B EEAIE A FEFENEE
BE-

27. RERBRME

(a)

FEHFRERS

RAFE  ARaBERAEYE
HEZHNERAEEERTEESR
AEDHAE2,364011 BT MEE
B1E2,364,011B7C (2022 F - &) °

HZE2022F12A31HILEFE - &
ARl HEREEL 20,743,794 57T
B EE - RETIU S RIREE
BREEREAFLTR19.9% K&
4.73% D AR AE Y 5 S A o
REEEBETKE - AR RHFUE]
WS RIESE AR AFEFAR
EHERMEE -
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27. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 27. BERERME (E)

(Continued)
(a) Major non-cash transactions (Continued) () FEFREXRZ (E)
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company BHZE2022F1283181EFE -
disposed the fair value of listed equities to approximately AARHELELTRELATFELDY
HK$11,748,358. The consideration was satisfied by the 11,748,358 8 7T - KETVARE R
subscription of sharing equity interest in the Goldstone 1. A= D AL BRI T AT o
Upon the completion of disposal, the Company classified the R ESBETKE - AR AR
proceeds received as financial assets at fair value through profit RFTSRIB D B AL A AT AR
or loss. AW ERERE -
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) RERMEIBZEESEH
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January Bm1A1A 536,983 924,560
New leases entered BRI FHEE 2,364,011 -
Reclassify to amount due to a related ~ EH D E ER — 2B A
party SKIE (900,000) -
Reclassify to accruals BN HERAER (105,840) -
Interest expense recognised RN ERAX 180,297 -
Repayment of principal portion of EEHEEaBENETESE D
lease liabilities (617,521) (387,577)
At 31 December ®12A31H 1,457,930 536,983
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and
protection of shareholders’ value. The ultimate responsibility in
defining and maintaining the Company’s risk control framework,
setting the appropriate risk parameters for the Company and in
continuously monitoring compliance of the Company’s portfolio with
the investment objective and policies and investment restrictions lies
with the Board of Directors of the Company, that will be advised by
the Investment Manager.

A risk committee consisting of executive directors and an
independent non-executive directors has been formed to monitor
the operational and portfolio risks to the Company. The risk
committee will monitor the Investment Manager including reviewing
whether the investment objective and policies and investment
restrictions are being followed by the Investment Manager. In case
of any deviation, the risk committee will discuss deviations with the
Investment Manager immediately and monitor any agreed remedial
action. For all material deviations the risk committee will formulate
recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remedial actions
to be made. The risk committee will meet on a monthly basis, or
more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk committee
member.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and
the value of individual securities. The Company is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as
listed equity securities and investment in private equities which are
classified in the statement of financial position as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss in Note 16 as at the end of the
reporting period.

8. MBEMEERBFTREK

RRTEEREE B F T 8E RRER
REE - ARAEFTGEERATELRE
RRARHEBRIZEFER REARAE
HENRRZ2BEFEERARFNKRE
HENBREE B IR RER A ER S
MEKRET RETEABRLAESS
RHER -

ARFERIEBREZE S KEBREH
TEERBYFNTES  UERARQ
AMEERREAARER RREES
RERREEEANKE  BEERR
EEEAELREREREBFERBRME
AR - WA EMAREE RRZEEH
BIRS B4R & B IR AP A IR BE 1B 0 3 BE 2%
TAEREMNERITE HRAEEX
MRBEER - ARZEERRAEZTSIR
HERBUEE BRITBNES - AREZE
eBARE—R MEMEREESK
BERASEMENESZRE -

RERER

MR R B R R IR ZHEEOK T RE R
EHEEZHMERNERESLATE
TERE R - NS BRA R R FEE
BWREEERRIRE DR AERNERE
B ZERESERARLETREEELSER
MR EANERIE AT EE BB
AEBMEENNR 2 ALERERE (T
16) °
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis below demonstrates management’s best
estimate of the effect on the loss and net assets attributable to equity
holders of the Company due to a reasonably possible change in
equity indices or fair values of the listed investments with all other
variables held constant. In practice, the actual trading results may
differ from the sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be
material.

Listed equity securities

The Company's investments in listed equity securities are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of
the reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the years were as follows:

28. MBEREEEERBE (&)

IR R E R ()

ATHREREIMIREEMBEGBEE
FRETENBERT  EEEHRFZEH
FETREZATFESEBAIEESHTE
AABEDRFEARIGEREREEFE
FrER R EM[G - EEES  BEXS
BRAGETNNHREDTERTR
ERFEEKXN -

L EF

RRAFZ ETREEESFRETINE B
T ET e

FAERESHRNZAR S B S EKH
BRE - THBEHFRSOTEREE
g URERSFESEN&ES RRIE
BT
31 December 2023 High/low
20239128318 LoV

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB -BEEH

17,047.39 22,700.85/15,972.31

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

High/low
=/ 1

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BE—BEEH
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)
Listed equity securities (Continued)

2023

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

28.

IR R E R ()

L EE ()

2023 &

% of reasonable
possible change
of the relevant

BERREERBERBE (H)

Change in loss
and net assets

Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
HEEEEHAE FEREEFEEZD
HETSEY s AR BN E 2t (BRBIIE &R
HKS$
BT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index & — B4 5 & 0.013 +10 +4,899
2022 2022 F
% of reasonable
possible change Change in loss
of the relevant and net assets
Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
UiE Fﬁ%‘“ﬁ%%{‘\ﬁ EEREEFEE
BT IS R £ BEEE-EE0ER (B E & R0
HK$
BT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index & — B4 5 & 0.114 +10 +139,778
Private equities HERE
At 31 December 2023, the loss (2022: loss) before tax would MR2023F12A31H W& EZA¥E
decrease/increase by approximately HK$3,542,900 for the private R/ T 10% (20224 : 10% ) * L

equities (2022: HK$5,741,600) should the fair values of the

investments increase/decrease by 10% (2022: 10%).

ERE BB ATEE (20224 : F18)
SELA 18 N4 3,542,900 7 7T (2022 4F ¢

5,741,600/ 7T) °
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()

154

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the
Company could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected.
To limit this risk, management monitors the Company’s liquidity
position from time to time.

The Company aims to maintain sufficient cash to meet its liquidity
requirements by the ongoing monitoring of cash positions and
future cash flows. The following table summarises the maturity
profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within six months equal
their carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting is insignificant.
The table also analyses the maturity profile of the Company’s
financial assets (undiscounted where appropriate) in order to provide
a complete view of the Company’s contractual commitments and

RBE SRR

MBEEERTIEARR B G ARTE
MR AINEREEEESRAR
METHER - RBESEBRR AR
BRI RE W B SRIR AT E R BT - RRH
R EREETRERARFTNRY
B2 -

ARAFEEER RN ARKE SR
EEABAMES UWnEERPES
ER e TRERGHARNRRSRER
AARRB B BENDEHITR - AR
BEEWITEKR - NEARDEN &R
EREEREE -ZRTOMARFSE
BEEMIMBER CREHE - WEE

NTEBRRARBNEHEELRBDE

liquidity.

The maturity grouping of financial liabilities is based on the CERAEMNHSHOBETERBREHKR
remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the EZENNNPHEHOBTHB WX 5EH A
contractual maturity date. When a counterparty has a choice of ERERER AEBIEELRRT
when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest RERBINOEIRA -

period in which the Company can be required to pay.

Analysis of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss into
maturity groupings is based on the expected date on which these
assets will be realised. For other assets, the analysis into maturity
groupings is based on the remaining period from the end of the
reporting period to the contractual maturity date or, if earlier, the
expected date on which the assets will be realised.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2023
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REEESEE (F)
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12A31H
3to Contractual Total
Less than less than 1t05 Nofixed  undiscounted rrying
On demand 3months 12 months years maturity  cash flows amount
3fiRE BER  RHARR
REX  OW3fER  JR1fER 125§ 4%8 GeRE  REAE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

An An A1 An A A1 An

Other payables AMERZE 2847326 - - - - 2841326 2847306
Lease liabiltes EEBE - 405,840 925,872 200,000 - ST 1457930
Amount due to 3 related party ERERAE 1,100,000 - - - - 1100000 1,100,000
Totalfinandialliabiltes SHAREE 3,947,326 405,840 925,872 200,000 - 5479038 540525
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REEESEE (F)
At 31 December 2022 7R2022F 12 A31H
3t0 Contractual Total
Less than less than Tt05 Nofied  undiscounted aning
On demand 3 months 12 months years maturity cash flows amount
RENES BEE  AOFMH
B2k OW3ER OR2EA 1556 gLl Reihg FHEE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
A o o o o B o
Other payables MRS - 6595551 - - - 6595551 6,595,551
Lease liabltes fEak - 105,840 317520 131712 - 555,072 536,983
Total financial liabiltes SRARLE - 6701391 317520 131712 - 75063 713253
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
and future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
interest rates.

The majority of the Company’s interest rate exposure arises from
cash and cash equivalents and margin accounts payable to brokers.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s
profit or loss for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the
profit or loss for the year (before tax) is the effect of the assumed
changes in interest rates on:

- The net interest for one year, based on the net cash position
held at the end of the reporting period.

- Changes in fair value of investments for the year, based on
revaluing fixed rate financial assets at the end of the reporting
period.

In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the below
sensitivity analysis and the difference could be significant.

8. MBEBREEBZERBXE (&)

2= = Bz

MEEBREZRTAMRKKRSRERN
BEREE ™ IHH R E MR ELE

ARRABAFMMNERBRRERAE LIRS
FENENKLEAREBESRAE

TRB A R B R TR
ARAAERBAEYFIEGA 2T
B G - A IR 3 (R B AT) B
EREFENBREBYUTIEENY
B8 -

i

—  ERMEMRAEFEFREMNZ —
FRN B -

—  ERBEMREEERLMEEY
FRRELTERD -
BE L ERRSEAA R TG

EOoWMBEMERBEZRRARE -

Sensitivity  Sensitivity of

of interest changes in
Change in income/ fair value of
Net exposure basis point (expense)  investments
BN/ RENTE
HE2y (XH)SBE ZINSEE
HK$ HKS
BT BT
2023 2023 F
Cash and cash equivalents BekRe%E 17,309,428 +50 186,547 -
2022 20226
Cash and cash equivalents BekBeEE 27,830,332 +50 +139,152 =
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()

158

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. Since
the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the
Board of Directors considers the Company’s exposure to foreign
currency risk to be minimal; as such no sensitivity analysis has been
presented in these financial statements.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing to discharge an
obligation. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is monitored by the
Investment Manager on an ongoing basis.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash
equivalents, promissory notes and investments placed with DBS
Bank Limited, Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and Bank of
Communication Trustee Limited, which management believes is of
high credit quality.

The credit risk on amounts due from brokers is limited because most
of the receivable amounts are from the investments sold which will
be settled shortly after trade date.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event the
counterparties fail to perform their obligations without taking into
account of any collateral held as at the reporting date in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as disclosed in the statement of financial position.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management BEXRER

As a result of the ability to issue and repurchase shares, the capital of BRANRR AT REBRRG 26

the Company can vary depending on subscriptions to the Company RRAMEREREAR QR RE REER M
and repurchases by the Company. The primary objectives of the B - ARBERERE T EZBETIRE
Company’s capital management are to safeguard the Company’s RABZFHBEEREFTERREEBR
ability to continue as a going concern and to invest the capital in ERMMKREBAREAERR 2IRER
investments meeting the description and risk exposure indicated ANERZREN - HEBEAREBARAF]
in the Company’s prospectus. The Investment Manager manages WREERRBEKREEARARAINER o
the capital of the Company in accordance with the Company’s RARTEINBHEIEERBZRKALR o

investment objectives and policies. The Company is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

29. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 29. EHHKEE
There is no significant event after the reporting period. HRERBIWEZEESERNEE -

30. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30. B iE R AVHLE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by KEAGIRRE N 2024 F3 27 HEE S
the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024. GHE R -
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BB E

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Company ARFZEAAEATBRFEEz EEREENAEB
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited 12 (B D B KEZMERE) HylwT
financial statements is set out below:

RESULTS E 4

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
B#Z203F HZF  HE02M1F  HE00%F  HE019F
12A31H 1273318 12A31H 1273318 12A318

LEE tFE LEE HEE HFE
HKS$ HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
REVENUE WA 126,339 3,116,109 257,989 3,417,096 5,447,693
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRI (52,436,843)  (52,745,075) (4,980,239)  (31,106,691)  (34,070,940)
Income tax g - - - - -
LOSS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE ADALBEREAEA
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO EEFREER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 2ABELE
COMPANY (52,436,843)  (52,745,075) (4,980,239)  (31,106,691)  (34,070,940)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20235 20025 20214 20205 20194
HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HKS
BT B BT B BT
TOTAL ASSETS BEAE 95243209 149,407,330 115,829,000 77,610,666 72,072,506
TOTAL LIABILITIES BfEEE (5,405,256) (7,132,534) (2,093,007) (6,497,953)  (10,631,106)

89,837,953 142,274,796 113,735,993 71,112,713 61,441,400
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